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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: We will begin in

          3  about two or three minutes. Anybody wishing to

          4  speak, please sign up with the Sergeant-of-Arms to

          5  your right, which is to my left. If you wish to

          6  speak on this topic, please sign up with the

          7  Sergeant-of-Arms over there. We are going to begin

          8  in a few minutes. Thank you.

          9                 Good afternoon, everyone, and welcome

         10  to the Committee on Education's hearing. Today is

         11  March 2, 2006. The subject of this hearing is Intro

         12  No. 83, a local law to amend the Administrative Code

         13  of the City of New York in relation to protecting

         14  the Department of Education employees from certain

         15  adverse personnel action.

         16                 My name is Robert Jackson and I am

         17  the Chair of the Education Committee. Let me just

         18  introduce, before I read my opening statement, the

         19  other members of the Committee that are present this

         20  afternoon.

         21                 From my left, you have Peter Vallone,

         22  Jr. from Queens; Dan Garodnick from Manhattan; to my

         23  right you have Gale Brewer of Manhattan, Yvette

         24  Clarke from Brooklyn; Al Vann from Brooklyn; and

         25  Simcha Felder from Brooklyn, and Melinda Katz is
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          2  sitting to the left of Peter Vallone, and she is

          3  from Queens.

          4                 Good afternoon and welcome. Today,

          5  the Education Committee is holding a hearing on

          6  Intro No. 83, a bill that would amend the City

          7  Administrative Code in relation to protecting the

          8  Department of Education employees from certain

          9  adverse personnel action. Currently, through what is

         10  commonly referred to as the whistleblower law, the

         11  New York City Administrative Code protects officers

         12  or employees of City agencies from retaliation when

         13  reporting conduct involving corruption, criminal

         14  activity, conflict of interest, gross mismanagement

         15  or abuse of authority.

         16                 Intro No. 83 would expand those

         17  protections for DOE employees who acting in the best

         18  interest of students, make a complaint or report

         19  about a policy or procedure of the Department of

         20  Education or of a school that poses a risk of harm

         21  to the health, safety, general welfare or

         22  educational welfare of students. There are many

         23  potential instances of retaliation that can occur

         24  when an DOE employee makes a report about policies

         25  or procedures that are harmful to students, but do
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          2  not necessarily involve the type of conduct covered

          3  by the existing whistleblower law.

          4                 For example, we have heard from

          5  teachers that there have been instances of

          6  retaliation when teachers had referred students to

          7  special education services or spoken out against a

          8  school policy or procedure that was harming the

          9  educational well being of students. Intro No. 83

         10  would provide important protection for DOE employees

         11  and the children they are trying to serve.

         12                 We are very interested to hear

         13  testimony regarding this legislation from

         14  representatives from the United Federation of

         15  Teachers, the Counsel of Supervisors and

         16  Administrators and other interested parties. Let me

         17  just introduce other members that are here that I

         18  did not introduce yet. To my left, you have Lou

         19  Fidler of Brooklyn and standing is Bill DeBlasio of

         20  Brooklyn and way off to the end, Jessica Lappin of

         21  Manhattan.

         22                 I would like to read a statement

         23  before we take our first witness, I would like to

         24  read a statement and I want to make sure that all

         25  members, members do you have a copy of the statement
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          2  from DOE? If you don't, please let us know so that

          3  staff would be able to provide it to you. This is a

          4  statement from the Department of Education, signed

          5  by Michael Best, the General Counsel of the

          6  Department of Education. It's a letter rather, dated

          7  March 2, 2006. I will read this letter and I think

          8  copies will be available or are available on the

          9  table over there.

         10                 It is addressed to me as the Chair of

         11  the Education Committee. "Dear Chair Jackson:

         12  Regrettably, due to the short notice of today's

         13  hearing, the Department is unable to attend your

         14  hearing on Proposed Introductory Number 83. Instead,

         15  I am submitting written comment on this piece of

         16  legislation and existing policies that protect

         17  Department of Education employees from retaliation.

         18  Let me state at the outset that inappropriate

         19  treatment of any DOE employees who makes a valid

         20  report of misconduct is unacceptable.

         21                 Intro 83 seeks to protect Department

         22  of Education employees from adverse personnel action

         23  should they make a complaint or report about any

         24  department or school policy or procedure that

         25  presents a risk of harm to the health, safety,
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          2  general welfare or educational welfare of students.

          3  The bill requires the Special Commissioner of

          4  Investigation for the New York City School District

          5  (called the Special Commissioner) to investigate

          6  claims of adverse personnel action and issue

          7  findings it requires the Chancellor to take specific

          8  corrective action in instances where the

          9  Commissioner finds violations and it prescribes

         10  timelines for the Commissioner and Chancellor to

         11  act.

         12                 Further, the proposed legislation

         13  creates a new private cause of action, i.e., the

         14  right to file a lawsuit for employees who have made

         15  complaints about policies not only when the

         16  Chancellor has failed to take appropriate remedial

         17  action, but even when the Special Commissioner has

         18  dismissed the complaint.

         19                 As the Council of the City of New

         20  York knows, there are already substantial legal

         21  protections for whistleblowers at the Department of

         22  Education. The New York State Civil Service Law, the

         23  New York City Administrative Code, and binding

         24  Department of Education policy all provide

         25  protection to officers and employees of the
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          2  Department who report misconduct.

          3                 New York State Civil Service Law 75-

          4  b protects from retaliation, employees who disclose

          5  to a governmental body information regarding a

          6  violation of law, rule, or regulation that creates a

          7  danger to the public or that they believe

          8  constitutes an improper governmental action.

          9                 New York City Administrative Code 12-

         10  113 protects from retaliation employees who report

         11  to the Commissioner of Investigation, the Public

         12  Advocate, the Comptroller, or a City Council Member,

         13  conduct that they believe to involve corruption,

         14  criminal activity, or conflict of interest by

         15  another officer or employee.

         16                 A resolution of the Board of

         17  Education adopted July 7, 1992, prohibits Department

         18  personnel from taking adverse personal action

         19  against employees who report to the Special

         20  Commissioner conduct that they believe involves

         21  corruption or other criminal activity, conflicts of

         22  interest, unethical conduct, or misconduct.

         23                 The bill is thus unnecessary.

         24  Moreover, the bill would create problems where

         25  current law does not. The language in the bill is so
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          2  broad that even "bad apples" within the public

          3  school system would be protected. As written, the

          4  bill could prevent the Department from taking action

          5  against an employee for misconduct or incompetence

          6  simply because the employee has made a complaint

          7  about a school policy or procedure. Incompetent

          8  employees would have an incentive to create

          9  allegations regarding school policies and procedures

         10  to protect themselves from appropriate disciplinary

         11  action.

         12                 More specifically, any Department

         13  employee refusing to follow a directive from a

         14  supervisor, for example regarding the use of a

         15  particular textbook, could seek to immunize him or

         16  herself from discipline by making a report that the

         17  directive "presents a risk of harm" to the

         18   "educational welfare" of students.

         19                 Therefore, Intro No. 83 would

         20  seriously impede the legitimate exercise of

         21  supervisory authority at the Department. Indeed, it

         22  seems to be intended, at least in part, to reverse

         23  the reforms negotiated in the recent collective

         24  bargaining agreement with the United Federation of

         25  Teachers, which have given principals more
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          2  discretion and authority as school leaders. Finally,

          3  Intro 83 presents serious potential issues of

          4  preemption under the State Education Law.

          5                 For the aforementioned reasons, we

          6  oppose this legislation at this time. Although Intro

          7  83 purports to protect the safety and welfare of

          8  students, it actually would make it more difficult

          9  for the Department to do so. Sincerely, Michael

         10  Best."

         11                 As I said, Michael Best is the

         12  General Counsel to Joel Klein and the Department of

         13  Education. I would like to enter this as part of the

         14  record. If you would like to have copies, I believe

         15  copies are being made and will be available over

         16  here at the Sergeant of Arms as soon as possible.

         17                 Other members that have joined us

         18  since my last announcement of members present, I see

         19  directly in front of me, Maria Del Carmen Arroyo

         20  from the Bronx, and Helen Diane Foster of the Bronx.

         21  Any other members? Okay. With that, I announced

         22  Melinda Katz, Council Member from Queens. Let me

         23  just introduce the staff since this is a new

         24  Committee of this term. The staff is to my right,

         25  Scheherazade Salimi, here as the Counsel to the
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          2  Committee; Jennifer Culp, could you please stand up

          3  Jennifer? Jennifer Cup is the Legislative Policy

          4  Analyst. She is over to my left there. Jan Atwell,

          5  Jan would you please stand. She is the Legislative

          6  Policy Analyst with the Education Committee; Ingrid

          7  Lemmey, is she here? Ingrid Lemmey, stand up Ingrid

          8  please. That's Ingrid Lemmey. She is a Senior Policy

          9  Analyst with the Education Committee; Kinsey Casey,

         10  she is not here. Right? She is our Press Officer and

         11  Regina, is she here? Regina Poreda is our Finance

         12  Analyst. These are the staff of the Education

         13  Committee.

         14                 With that, I would like to call the

         15  first witness, Randi Weingarten, President of UFT.

         16  Ms. Weingarten. And also behind me is Miguel

         17  Martinez of Manhattan. Ms. Weingarten, do you have a

         18  copy of the letter? I believe I asked the staff to

         19  make one available to you. I don't know if you had

         20  the opportunity to read it. But I read it out loud.

         21  This is the Department's position regarding Intro

         22  No. 83. We welcome your testimony and your comments.

         23                 MS. WEINGARTEN: It doesn't surprise

         24  me that the -- first of all, thank you, very, very,

         25  very much for holding this hearing. On behalf of my
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          2  members, it is so important as you will hear in a

          3  little while from some folks their stories and their

          4  vignettes about how they have tried to get help for

          5  kids and how they have been threatened and

          6  retaliated against. And they were still willing to

          7  come forward today. We have many, many, many more

          8  anonymous complaints because people are just

          9  frightened.

         10                 It doesn't surprise me that the Board

         11  of Education would put in a letter like this because

         12  if you have the fox guarding the chicken coop right

         13  now, why would you want to change that. And that is

         14  essentially what is happening here. Now let me just

         15  raise three issues about the letter in the context

         16  of my testimony because I appreciated very much that

         17  Council Member Jackson read it because that was the

         18  first moment that (people handed it to me when I

         19  came in), but your reading it allowed me to take a

         20  couple of notes.

         21                 Number one, we have raised the issue

         22  of this kind of whistleblower protection well before

         23  the last contract was negotiated. It has nothing to

         24  do with contractual rights. We are very, very

         25  confident that our contractual rights will protect a

                                                            14

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  contractual disagreement in a school. This is really

          3  about when a teacher or a psychologist or a social

          4  worker or a paraprofessional or a school secretary

          5  or a lab specialist or an attendance teacher says

          6  there is a problem on behalf of a student. We do not

          7  have contractual rights in our contract maybe with

          8  the exception of class size that helps us protect

          9  the welfare of a student.

         10                 Number two, there is nothing in the

         11  legislation that bars the Chancellor or the school

         12  system from doing what they need to do with respect

         13  to employees if they think an employee is engaged in

         14  misconduct or incompetence. In fact, except for a

         15  private right of action, after the exhaustion of all

         16  of this, most of these issues go to the Chancellor.

         17  So that the issue here is simply how do we make sure

         18  that if we need to protect someone who wants to call

         19  out a wrong that has happened to a student, how do

         20  we make sure they can do it without being threatened

         21  of being fired. Particularly since, half of the

         22  staff of the school system these days has five or

         23  fewer years of service and as a result many of them

         24  are very fearful of any kind of suggestion that they

         25  could be fired.
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          2                 Today, I come to you because school

          3  based educators are really the system's, in some

          4  ways, canaries in a coal mine. School children and

          5  parents depend on them to sound the alarm when

          6  special education students are not getting

          7  appropriate services, when dangerous school

          8  conditions could threaten children's safety or

          9  health, when a school budget or program might be

         10  mismanaged to the detriment of services for

         11  children. That is what this bill is about.

         12                 It is no secret that many have

         13  complained about the lack of information and the

         14  lack of transparency at the Department of Education.

         15  As you know, many of you were part of it, former

         16  Speaker Gifford Miller's CFE Commission suggested an

         17  independent institute for research and

         18  accountability to evaluate educational reforms,

         19  track the use of CFE funding because of the lack of

         20  transparency and accountability. I have given you a

         21  piece that Diane Ravitch and I wrote about the same

         22  kind of thing a couple of years ago.

         23                 But with such a lack of open

         24  communication to parents, to the press, and to the

         25  education watchdogs, what has happened in the last
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          2  few years is that it is often left to classroom

          3  educators to tell people what is really going on in

          4  schools. Yet at the same time, and it may be because

          5  of the demographic changes, it may be because of

          6  other reasons, more and more my members are

          7  reluctant to speak out. They tell me all the time,

          8  they are afraid. They are afraid of reprisals. They

          9  are just afraid.

         10                 What we tried to do as we heard this

         11  over and over again, when people would write me

         12  anonymous e- mail saying, please take care of this,

         13  whatever this was. But I would say, but I need your

         14  name. I need your school. How can I take care of it

         15  if I don't have your name or your school. I can't

         16  tell you. I can tell you some hints. But I can't

         17  tell you, even to me. That's when we started

         18  thinking about, maybe there has to be some kind of

         19  expanded whistleblower protection so that we can

         20  call out a wrong that happens that harms students in

         21  the City school system.

         22                 What the proposed legislation does,

         23  is it actually builds (that's why I don't understand

         24  the preemption issue), it builds on the City's 2003

         25  whistleblower law which protects City employees from
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          2  retaliation for reporting corruption, criminal

          3  activity and conflicts of interest. What it would do

          4  is five things. One, it would expand the scope of

          5  whistleblowing to cover City educators who report a

          6  school policy or practice that, while not illegal,

          7  nevertheless hurts the health, safety general

          8  welfare or educational welfare of students.

          9                 Two, school employees who believe

         10  they had suffered a "adverse personnel action" in

         11  retaliation for these kind of complaints would then

         12  inform the Special Commissioner of Investigation.

         13  That Commissioner would then have three months, six

         14  if necessary, to complete an investigation and

         15  produce some findings. If the Commissioner

         16  substantiated the complaint, the Chancellor would

         17  then have three months, six if necessary, to take

         18  remedial action. If the Chancellor didn't act, the

         19  Commissioner must relay that matter to the Mayor.

         20  Finally, the school employee could file a civil

         21  lawsuit to seek redress if no one was listening

         22  after all of these checks and balances.

         23                 In this hearing, you will hear from a

         24  number of really courageous educators who have

         25  become targets of retaliation and retribution
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          2  because they refused to be silent about practices

          3  that harmed their students or their schools. As I

          4  said before, they are representative of so many who

          5  have come to me or come to Carmen Alvarez about

          6  these issues over the course of the last three

          7  years.

          8                 Let me tell you three stories and

          9  then end. January 2004, well before the new contract

         10  was negotiated, Phil Nobile a former journalist who

         11  taught political law at Cobble Hill School of the

         12  American Studies, sent a memo to his principal

         13  alerting the principal of a pattern of grade

         14  tampering. Specifically, he said that there was

         15  evidence of a pattern of raising failing grades to a

         16  passing level in regents exams in global and

         17  American history, subjects that fell under the

         18  purview of a particular assistant principal.

         19                 Two weeks later, that particular

         20  assistant principal dropped into one of Phil

         21  Nobile's classes and low and behold, he got an

         22  unsatisfactory rating for the lesson. Over the next

         23  few months, Nobile sent the principal a series of

         24  memos contending that this same AP "systemically

         25  directed the changing of regents grades." In return,

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  Nobile was then bombarded with U ratings. Nobile

          3  complained to State officials who ordered the

          4  Department of Education to investigate.

          5                 Now, after the ensuing probe and

          6  after the New York Times wrote about this, the probe

          7  found that the assistant principle who retaliated

          8  against Nobile actually did tamper with regents

          9  exams and further found that the principal who also

         10  retaliated with the U ratings, that principal

         11  covered up. Several teachers in the school were

         12  given immunity when they told investigators that

         13  they had "scrubbed" the grades meaning they had

         14  moved them up to just below the passing mark of 65.

         15  Others said that they had raised some grades from

         16  the low 50s to passing. What happened? Capra was

         17  removed. She resigned during the probe, that was the

         18  assistant principle. And the principle was removed

         19  as of last July. Only because Mr. Nobile was willing

         20  to go forward even after all the U ratings did it

         21  force this investigation.

         22                 Number two, Robyn Harland, a veteran

         23  special education teacher in Queens, discovered that

         24  teachers and children were being put in harm's way

         25  by the failure of the Department of Education to
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          2  provide protective equipment, training, and

          3  vaccinations to educators at risk of exposure to

          4  life threatening pathogens in blood and other bodily

          5  fluid. Meaning, just like in hospitals, in some

          6  schools and some special ed facilities, if there is

          7  a needle prick or if there is some blood, there is

          8  all sorts of protocols. She found that this was not

          9  being taken care of.

         10                 When a special ed para in her school

         11  contracted Hepatitis C, Ms. Harland filed a

         12  complaint with the State's Health and Safety Bureau

         13  about the lack of protection, not just for staffers,

         14  but for kids. What happened? Since that filing, the

         15  State has actually issued 13 citations against the

         16  Department of Education and levied fines totaling

         17  over $100,000 because of the failures of the City

         18  school system to protect against the results of

         19  scratching and biting and things like that. Yet the

         20  DOE still continues to turn its back on the problem.

         21  But, what did they do to Ms. Harland? What was the

         22  result of her complaint? She has been removed from

         23  the school and still stays in the status of being

         24  removed from the school.

         25                 Number three, and this story has
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          2  started to hit the New York Times also. This is the

          3  story of Frances Strutt and Susan Werner, senior-

          4  class guidance counselors at John Kennedy High

          5  School who discovered that several students who

          6  tried to enroll in September for courses they needed

          7  to meet graduation requirements had not been given

          8  to them because these students had unbeknownst to

          9  these two guidance counselors now graduated from

         10  John Kennedy. These anomalies impelled the pair of

         11  guidance counselors to undertake a review of all the

         12  students on the August graduation list. They found

         13  that up a third of the students on the list had been

         14  fraudulently certified for graduation. Someone had

         15  tampered with the student transcripts and included

         16  added passing grades for classes that the students

         17  never took.

         18                 The day after our union rep in the

         19  school asked the principal to account for these

         20  irregularities, these two guidance counselors were

         21  suddenly excessed out of John Kennedy High School.

         22  The story gets even worse. Each counselor had over

         23  20 years on the job, so to comply with the contract,

         24  the principal had to excessed two more counselors so

         25  that they could get to these two counselors. A total
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          2  of 1,200 students were then deprived of counseling

          3  services. One of the excessed counselors worked with

          4  special ed students and the remaining special ed

          5  counselor was reassigned to take the caseload of one

          6  of the excessed general ed counselors, leaving about

          7  135 special ed students without any guidance

          8  counselors.

          9                 Two students were hospitalized for

         10  threatening suicide during this time. And all of

         11  this, it is pretty obvious, was to punish these two

         12  educators who simply were trying to uphold academic

         13  standards of students and to report some suspected

         14  wrong doing. These are three examples. School based

         15  educators should not have to choose between saving

         16  their careers and acting in the best interest of

         17  their kids and the schools.

         18                 We rely and should rely on school

         19  based educators to be the eyes and ears of parents

         20  and the public who don't have full access to

         21  schools. These educators need to know that they can

         22  advocate on behalf of children and families without

         23  putting their careers at risk. We shouldn't have to

         24  rely on three or four or five of them that are so

         25  courageous that they would deal with the stress of
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          2  losing their careers because they saw a wrong that

          3  they needed to right.

          4                 Parents need to know that they can

          5  count on teachers to protect their children and

          6  fight for what their children need and deserve. Most

          7  of all, children need to know that they can trust

          8  their teachers not to let anything bad happen to

          9  them. That's why these kind of stories are why we

         10  have come to you for legislation like this. So there

         11  can be some sunlight on these situations before it

         12  gets to this kind of situation. Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Wow. Wow. The

         14  stories that you have just communicated to us seems

         15  unreal. But I'm sure that they have occurred or else

         16  you would not be bringing them forward. Before we

         17  entertain questions from my colleagues, I'd like to

         18  introduce other members of the City Council

         19  Education Committee that are here this afternoon.

         20  Oliver Koppell down in the front to my left from the

         21  Bronx; Andrew Lanza, next to him from Staten Island

         22  and Eric Gioia of Queens, to my left. With that, I

         23  would like to turn to my colleagues to open up the

         24  floor for questions. Council Member Peter Vallone,

         25  Jr., of Queens.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chair. Let me say it is an honor to be part of

          4  this Committee for the first time. I asked to be on

          5  this Committee. I have two little girls in public

          6  school and this is very important to me. And Ms.

          7  Weingarten, nobody knows the jobs that your teachers

          8  are doing better than I do. My oldest one yesterday

          9  made Hunter and that is because of the job that your

         10  teachers have done through first six years in public

         11  school. That being said, however, I do have some

         12  concerns about this bill before us.

         13                 I'm very concerned that someone may

         14  make a frivolous allegation in order to avoid

         15  legitimate disciplinary action. What safeguards are

         16  in place to prevent that from happening?

         17                 MS. WEINGARTEN: If you look at the

         18  bill, there are at least four safeguards in place

         19  against that. What will happen is you have the

         20  Commissioner of Investigation, that is the first

         21  safeguard against it. There is the Chancellor who is

         22  the second safeguard against it. And both their

         23  reports are issued and can be issued publicly and

         24  what we are trying to say is that the Chancellor and

         25  the Commissioner have to look at these allegations.
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          2  But what will happen is once an allegation goes to

          3  the Commissioner of Investigation and then goes to

          4  the Chancellor afterwards, what happens is that they

          5  will have all the facts in front of them. And then

          6  they can write a report or they will have probably

          7  access to far more facts than we do.

          8                 There is enough checks and balances

          9  in the law that any frivolous investigation will be

         10  thrown out. If a person brings a frivolous

         11  investigation to a court of law, the lawyer that

         12  brings that investigation can be sanctioned.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: That never

         14  happens. I'm an attorney. Not that I never brought a

         15  frivolous allegation, but that never happens. I'm

         16  not sure that is a safeguard. Let's use an example.

         17  The way this law reads and I paraphrase a little

         18  bit, they can bring in an allegation that about

         19  something that is not technically illegal, but that

         20  would harm the general welfare of the students.

         21                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Like tampering with

         22  grades. Tampering with grades right now --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Right. Let me

         24  just finish, thanks. There are some serious ones

         25  that fall under that. But there is some very
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          2  frivolous ones. I can't think of something that

          3  doesn't encompass. If a teacher said they should

          4  serve ginger ale instead of Snapple because there is

          5  no caffeine, that might harm the health of a child.

          6  What happens in that situation? Somebody makes that

          7  allegation, does it now have to be investigated for

          8  six months and no action be taken about that person?

          9                 MS. WEINGARTEN: No, the bill does not

         10  stop personnel actions from happening pending the

         11  investigation. What it does say is that if there is

         12  a legitimate issue that somebody has raised,

         13  somebody other than the principal, has to make sure

         14  that they investigate it. What it does, is it forces

         15  the investigation of issues that people have blown

         16  the whistle on. It forces, if somebody really

         17  believes that they are being retaliated against, for

         18  bringing an issue that happens to be grade

         19  tampering, going to try and help a child get special

         20  ed services, it forces the investigation of those

         21  issues. It tries to stop any ultimate retaliation.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I don't

         23  unfortunately have a copy of the actual language

         24  sitting as we speak. I'm sure I can find it. But you

         25  just said it doesn't stop an investigation from
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          2  occurring --

          3                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Correction.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: -- Or from

          5  any action being taken during the investigation. I

          6  read it to say it does. Mr. Chair, do you have a

          7  clarification on that?

          8                 MS. WEINGARTEN: It doesn't the stay

          9  actions from happening. What it forces is the

         10  retaliation to be investigated. But it doesn't stop

         11  the school system from taking legitimate actions

         12  against people and frankly, it doesn't stop the

         13  school system from taking actions. But it forces the

         14  investigation of a retaliation complaint.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I'm looking

         16  for the exact portion of what we were discussing.

         17  But I believe it says that no remedial action shall

         18  be taken or adverse personnel action during the

         19  pendency of the investigation.

         20                 MS. WEINGARTEN: No, it doesn't.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I could be

         22  wrong. But I believe it says that. I'm just going to

         23  read one of the sections. No employee of the

         24  Department of Education shall take adverse personnel

         25  action with respect to another officer employee who
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          2  acting in the best interest of the students has made

          3  a complaint or report regarding any school policy.

          4  What I am misreading there?

          5                 MS. WEINGARTEN: What it says is that

          6  if somebody is asking -- if somebody has said that

          7  that act is in retaliation, the adverse personnel

          8  action is in retaliation for protecting the health

          9  and welfare of the child, that is what somebody can

         10  take an action against. It is about the retaliatory

         11  action. Someone can't say in advance, I expect that

         12  I'm going to get a U rating, therefore, I'm going to

         13  complain.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: They

         15  absolutely can under this bill.

         16                 MS. WEINGARTEN: No, they can't.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: They can

         18  expect to get a U rating and make a complaint

         19  against the type of drink in the lunch room and then

         20  they announce a cause of action for themselves based

         21  on retaliation.

         22                 MS. WEINGARTEN: With all due respect,

         23  Council Member, at least the way the law has been,

         24  the bill has been written and the way I understand

         25  it, they can only make a complaint after some
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          2  adverse personnel action has occurred. They cannot

          3  make a complaint in advance of it.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I think we

          5  are saying the exact same thing that somebody may be

          6  expecting, I'm not saying this happens every day,

          7  I'm just saying this could possibly happen. Somebody

          8  expects some sort of adverse action, makes a

          9  frivolous complaint. Then the action they expected

         10  happens and then they have this right of action

         11  under this bill.

         12                 MS. WEINGARTEN: And what would then

         13  have to happen is that in SCI investigation or in an

         14  investigation by the Chancellor, if the Chancellor

         15  found that it was a frivolous complaint, what all of

         16  us would see is that write of action and that

         17  information. What I am trying to protect here is the

         18  hundreds of people who have made legitimate

         19  complaints, but they never get to the Department of

         20  Investigation. They never get to the Chancellor.

         21  What you are looking at is some issue of frivolity

         22  versus the so many different complaints that I get

         23  it of serious tampering or other issues.

         24            Ultimately, if there is some frivolous

         25  complaints that has happened, the first two or three
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          2  cases here will make it clear that those complaints

          3  out of the ball park. I am much more worried about

          4  the complaints that I just raised that have gone on

          5  in the school system over the last several years

          6  where people have had no access to being able to

          7  protect students.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: You just said

          9  that this covers the serious tampering. I believe

         10  that's already covered in the New York State Civil

         11  Service Law 75. If an employee blows the whistle on

         12  something that they believe constitutes an improper

         13  governmental action, that would encompass serious

         14  tampering.

         15                 MS. WEINGARTEN: These folks, sir, who

         16  I have just raised have been told that they are not

         17  protected by that law. If Phil Noble did not get the

         18  State Department of Education to investigate, he

         19  would be out of a job today. He was not protected by

         20  that law. The reason we are raising these issues is

         21  because we have no way when people raise issues of

         22  grade tampering, of students not getting services

         23  that they or their parents believe they are entitled

         24  to under disability laws, teachers have no way to

         25  vindicate those rights on behalf of students. All
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          2  too often, what happens is they are told if they try

          3  to take it to another step, they are going to be

          4  retaliated against. That is what I am concerned

          5  about and we have no way of trying to create some

          6  sunshine in that process.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Sounds to me

          8  like you are absolutely right. He should have been

          9  covered by this law. That makes no sense. I don't

         10  want to take up anymore. There is a lot of council

         11  members time here. We will probably discuss down the

         12  road. I think we have the same goals, just

         13  potentially a different way of getting there. But

         14  thank you for your time.

         15                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Thanks.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         17  Council Member Fidler of Brooklyn.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chairman. I too am glad to be a new member of the

         20  Education Committee. As Council Member Vallone said,

         21  I have two children in the New York City public

         22  school system. Actually one just graduated and the

         23  other is at Edward Murrow High School and we too

         24  appreciate what teachers do.

         25                 I do, however, want to follow up in
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          2  some of the concerns that Council Member Vallone

          3  raised, not because and I think as he concluded, I

          4  think we all have the same goal. I think we're just

          5  kind of concerned about how we are going to get

          6  there. There are circumstances where both the

          7  grievance filed by the teacher and the remedial

          8  action called for are appropriate. Sometimes and I

          9  will give you example from the practice of law. I

         10  had somebody who wanted to be my client come in on a

         11  custodial matter and made a very, very serious

         12  complaint about what was going in the court house

         13  and they were right. But they had also lost their

         14  case and probably very justifiably so.

         15                 What happens under this law as you

         16  view it when the remedial action is appropriate? Is

         17  there is a weighing of the gravity of the allegation

         18  made by the teacher and the need or the

         19  appropriateness for remedial action for something

         20  else they may or may not have done?

         21                 MS. WEINGARTEN: All of that would be

         22  investigated by either the Department of

         23  Investigation or by the Chancellor. What will end up

         24  happening is that you will have a real

         25  investigation, with real findings and facts by
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          2  people who have much more access than we do in a

          3  report. Those reports of what you are concerned

          4  about is that it creates a private right of action.

          5  All of that will go to a court in that regard.

          6                 The law is actually, the bill is

          7  actually, pretty broadly gives the Chancellor and

          8  the Department of Investigation huge power here.

          9  What all it does is says that a teacher, an educator

         10  can get it out of the school, out of the RIS

         11  (phonetic), out of the LIS, up to the Chancellor's

         12  level. So it is not simply me reading an e-mail.

         13                 This is what happens these days. I

         14  get an e- mail. I get it to Dennis Walcott or the

         15  Chancellor. That is how these things start happening

         16  these days. Why should that be the way in which

         17  people complain about something that happens to

         18  children? Ultimately, what this forces is that if a

         19  teacher has the courage of saying, something bad is

         20  happening to a child here, what the teacher is

         21  simply doing is going to the Chancellor with it. And

         22  not letting people in the middle try to stop it for

         23  lots of their own reasons. That's really what this

         24  whistleblower protection says. It says give it some

         25  sunlight. And if it is only me who is doing it, that
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          2  gets right back into the issue that they raised

          3  about the contract. It shouldn't have to be their

          4  union rep raising it.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I understand

          6  that is what it intends, I'm just not entirely sure

          7  that is what it says. And I did a quick read of it

          8  as Council Member Vallone was asking you questions.

          9  I think perhaps some of this language needs to be

         10  tightened up or made clearer. Because I don't think

         11  it really says that and I just kind of wonder,

         12  during this period of time where we are asking the

         13  big fox to tell us what is going on in the hen

         14  house, we go to the Chancellor instead of the

         15  principal or the Chancellor instead of the regional

         16  superintendent. What's going on?

         17                 It is also possible that despite the

         18  legitimacy of the complaint, that the complainant

         19  may be doing things that are at fault. And some of

         20  the stories that I have been told from time to time

         21  and many years in the school system, there is fault

         22  on both sides. These things kind of escalate into a

         23  battle royal between the principal or the assistant

         24  principal and the teacher or teachers in questioned.

         25  There is sometimes fault on both sides. I think we
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          2  need to just take a look at whether or not this bill

          3  accomplishes the purpose that you are testifying to

          4  which I think we all agree we want to see happen. I

          5  know you are an attorney. Right?

          6                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I hate to have

          8  a preemption discussion here in front of the

          9  Committee. But, I heard the letter from Michael Best

         10  and he talked about civil service law section 75- b.

         11  As you testified, Mr. Nobile was not covered. He was

         12  told he was not covered by civil service section 75-

         13  b. Councilman Vallone who is also an attorney was

         14  surprised to hear that was the case. My concern is

         15  a, why not and b, if in fact the State has

         16  proscribed whistleblower protections in civil

         17  service law 75- b, might we not be preempted by the

         18  fact that they have taken action in that field;

         19  thereby, making this exercise unfortunately the

         20  inappropriate venue for addressing this problem. I

         21  hate to pass a law that the Mayor turned around and

         22  thanks to the Court of Appeals says he doesn't have

         23  to enforce because he doesn't think we have the

         24  power to do it and then have to litigate it. I would

         25  rather do something that has an effect.
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          2                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Mr. Best raised the

          3  State law, but what this bill does is expands the

          4  City law. You were not preempted from creating the

          5  first whistleblower law. What this bill simply does

          6  is expand the City whistleblower law to cover unique

          7  circumstances in schools. What you don't have in

          8  most other administrative agencies within the City

          9  of New York is people attempting to protect their

         10  clientele on a day to day basis. Teachers have a

         11  very special relationship with the students that

         12  they teach.

         13                 The reason I used the special

         14  education example so much is because so many

         15  teachers and psychologists these days have

         16  complained about how they can't get kids the latest

         17  services that they need, OT, PT, you've heard this

         18  from parents, I am sure. Teachers have tried to get

         19  kids these services and have been told if you file a

         20  referral, we will fire you. We will put a letter in

         21  your file. We will rate you unsatisfactory. The

         22  issue here is one that is serious to us. And there

         23  was never an intent in this bill to stop legitimate

         24  personnel actions.

         25                 The adverse, unfortunately, is what
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          2  is more true which is that people do not stand up

          3  and complain about what they will whisper to me

          4  because they are fearful of that process. That

          5  process, unfortunately, works too well these days.

          6  And as a result, people don't speak up about what

          7  they believe to be children's needs. That the

          8  dilemma that we face these days.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Again, I think

         10  we are 100 percent on the same page on the dilemma,

         11  but I'm not sure you really answered the question.

         12  Particularly, the first part which is why did civil

         13  service law section 75- b not apply to the Phil

         14  Nobile's.

         15                 MS. WEINGARTEN: It doesn't because

         16  the issue of grade tampering in that respect will

         17  not be viewed as an illegal action. It is viewed as

         18  an action that violates good, ethical school

         19  teacher. But there are many folks who do not view

         20  that as an illegal action.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Okay.

         22                 MS. WEINGARTEN: A principal may look

         23  at a test and say, I think this child deserved a 65

         24  on the essay. A teacher might say, the child

         25  deserves a 40 on the essay.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So civil

          3  service 75- b only relates to an allegation of

          4  illegal activity.

          5                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Illegality.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I understand.

          7  That's the answer. Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

          9  Council Member Gail Brewer of Manhattan.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         11  much. This is helpful to me because I guess we have

         12  one person in the office who does nothing but

         13  education. And we have the newsletter that I think

         14  you have seen, Randi, with all the schools on it.

         15  People call us constantly. Actually, in the last two

         16  years, two special education teachers have lost

         17  their job based on exactly what you are stating.

         18  One, I couldn't believe it. She has two children

         19  with PhD's. You would be delighted, honored and

         20  privilege to have her as your teacher or your

         21  child's teacher. I couldn't believe it.

         22                 She complained because it is a very

         23  severely handicapped class that she teaches or

         24  taught. And she felt strongly that the way in which

         25  the sanitary conditions and the way in which things
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          2  were happening in the school and the classroom were

          3  not appropriate for those children. Let me tell you,

          4  I believe her. We all wrote letters, we called. To

          5  be honest with you, we are sort of at a loss as to

          6  the process because it seems very complicated to

          7  those and I must admit, we were in shock at what was

          8  happening.

          9                 I have another friend teaching in a

         10  Harlem school. She is afraid. She teaches the same

         11  sort of child, et cetera. I do think in the special,

         12  at least in my experience, in the special education

         13  classroom, very dedicated teachers see things that

         14  are incorrect and are afraid or if they do come

         15  forward, it is a challenging situation. I'm just

         16  wondering as time goes on, we even could even just

         17  for daily response, if we could get some kind of a

         18  spreadsheet sort of to explain what is covered under

         19  the current law and what 83 would cover. Because

         20  what I do now, I think I just got a letter this week

         21  with the same kind of retaliatory kind of situation.

         22                 It often happens to be honest with

         23  you where there is not a strong principal or

         24  somebody who is not, I don't know, the kind of

         25  principal that I like to see in the school. There is
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          2  always a type like us who speaks up and who has

          3  retaliation immediately bestowed upon them. That's

          4  my experience.

          5                 MS. WEINGARTEN: If the current law

          6  covered those kind of situations and if the current

          7  law covered situations at JFK, like Robyn Harland,

          8  like Phil Nobile, we wouldn't be here. Nor would we

          9  have to use the press to raise these issues. We

         10  would rather use a process that gets these issues to

         11  the proper authorities than have to go to the press

         12  to use them.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I have used

         14  the press in a couple of special education

         15  situations just to do what I wasn't able to do

         16  through the letter writing campaign. I definitely

         17  see the problem. I would love to work on a solution.

         18  It would be helpful to have some kind of a

         19  spreadsheet that listed so we can use that just

         20  generally in support of our teachers. Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         23  Council Member Dan Garodnick of Manhattan.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you,

         25  Mr. Chairman, Ms. Weingarten. Thank you very much
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          2  for your testimony. I will be brief. Obviously,

          3  there is a problem when you have examples of

          4  teachers who are afraid to reveal problems in

          5  schools and they are e- mailing you and you are

          6  bringing these issues to the attention of the

          7  Chancellor and others through a different channel.

          8                 The reason why I think there is

          9  several of us who are concerned about the preemption

         10  issue particularly today, is that we are suddenly in

         11  a post- equal benefits law world in the City

         12  Council. While that fight is not over, there was a

         13  New York Court of Appeals ruling which said, that if

         14  the City Council passes a law that the Mayor deems

         15  to be illegal or preempted as he deemed the equal

         16  benefits law, and we override his veto, he can sit

         17  on that law until we sue to enforce and to ensure

         18  its legality.

         19                 With that in mind, I just want to

         20  revisit with you for one second the Section 75- b of

         21  the New York State Civil Service law. Because as I

         22  read it here, and I'm looking at a summary of it,

         23  but it does appear to me that it protects from

         24  retaliation employees who disclose to a governmental

         25  body information regarding a violation of law, rule,
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          2  or regulation, not just law or rule, but a

          3  regulation, that creates either a danger to the

          4  public or that constitutes an improper governmental

          5  action.

          6                 MS. WEINGARTEN: If --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: It seems to

          8  me that grade tampering would fall within the

          9  category of improper governmental action.

         10                 MS. WEINGARTEN: It would seem to me

         11  that as well. But what I am saying to all of you is

         12  that when you look at the case law that has

         13  interpreted this law, this law has been interpreted

         14  very, very narrowly and things that happen in

         15  schools that I am raising particularly in an arena.

         16  Think about the arena that we are in and you can

         17  tell by my tone today, this is something where I

         18  understand sometimes where a principal says, I don't

         19  have the budget. Take a special education situation

         20  and Councilwoman Brewer says it, you have a

         21  principal who is also being evaluated very closely

         22  by a RIS or a LIS or a regional superintendent where

         23  the superintendent says, I can't have any more

         24  referrals. Because if I have any referrals, I'm

         25  going to called on the carpet by the higher ups.
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          2                 A teacher says, but this child needs

          3  a self- contained classroom and goes through all the

          4  reasons why. No. But I really believe that the child

          5  needs it. No. But I'm going to tell the child's

          6  parents that she really needs it. You do that, I'm

          7  going to write you up. You understand the conflict.

          8  Because what happens is, people get very concerned

          9  about what is going on and what is going to happen

         10  from the higher ups.

         11                 The same is true in terms of grade

         12  tampering/inflation. One person's tampering can be

         13  another's one inflation. Ultimately, in a period of

         14  time that we are in, where you have no child left

         15  behind requirements, that could be the difference

         16  between whether the scores on regents exams, could

         17  be the difference between whether a school makes AYP

         18  or not; you have huge pressure in the school system.

         19  What we are saying here, is let there be sunlight so

         20  that people have an incentive to do the right thing

         21  by children.

         22                 Now the issues that people have

         23  raised, someone will always find an exception to the

         24  rule. The problem we have is we have those issues

         25  coming at us all the time. I would rather people be
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          2  able to complain about it and not constantly make it

          3  a union issue. Look, I would love to represent the

          4  children. But the issue here is about how teachers

          5  who really care about kids want to make sure that

          6  the kids get the services that they need. That's

          7  really what is going on.

          8                 Now, on the issue of preemption, you

          9  have in all sorts of legislative and budgetary

         10  authority, done so much with respect to schools and

         11  schooling, class size caps, other types of things.

         12  Ultimately, this is simply an expansion of a law

         13  that you passed for whistleblower. One of the

         14  reasons we say and I don't have it in front of me.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: The

         16  Administrative Code of New York City.

         17                 MS. WEINGARTEN: The Administrative

         18  Code, what we have said is this is an expansion. We

         19  have looked at the City whistleblower law and sought

         20  to expand that because what you have in education is

         21  a constant interaction between employees and the

         22  students they serve. That's fairly unique to any

         23  other civil service. So we are saying for the unique

         24  circumstances here, let's expand the City's civil

         25  service whistleblowing law.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: The example

          3  you gave of the case law being restrictive and not

          4  applying to the circumstances that we are describing

          5  today --

          6                 MS. WEINGARTEN: We can give you some

          7  of that case law.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay. I

          9  think that would be useful for us. Because we

         10  obviously now have to focus even more carefully on

         11  these issues because we may be forced to sue to

         12  enforce this law in court at the end of the day. I

         13  think we need to consider those issues and exactly

         14  the arguments that we would make at the front end

         15  because that will almost be inevitability. The

         16  Mayor, I'm reading the document here which says that

         17  he views this as preempted. So there is no

         18  surprises. The Mayor has stated his view on the

         19  subject already which means that if we pass it, he

         20  vetoes, we override, we're the ones who have to sue.

         21  Actually, I think that would be very useful.

         22                 The other question I had for you was

         23  whether there has ever been any litigation over the

         24  New York City Administrative Code. The one which we

         25  are purporting to expand today and whether that has
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          2  been --

          3                 MS. WEINGARTEN: I don't know.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: --

          5  Litigated or challenged ever.

          6                 MS. WEINGARTEN: I don't think so.

          7  Well, it has been passed, it's law.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: It's passed

          9  and it was signed into law, but I don't know if any

         10  of the issues that we are raising today have ever

         11  been raised with respect to that.

         12                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Someone just handed

         13  me for example, an example, we did redact the name

         14  of the school. But an example of a professional

         15  development agenda, where it clearly says, "do not

         16  encourage referrals." As Gail has said, this is just

         17  part of the vernacular now. And again, this is a

         18  check and balance. This is an issue where if we

         19  thought, the UFT is pretty savvy about going to

         20  court. And we have looked very carefully at the

         21  civil service law. Would we be asking you to expand

         22  a piece of legislation, something we rarely ask you

         23  to do, if we thought we could do it in a different

         24  kind of way. Our lawyers have looked it. We have

         25  looked at the case law. If we had that kind of right
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          2  of action, you know us, we would aggressively be

          3  pursuing it for cases that I just mentioned.

          4                 When you get those e- mails, when I

          5  remember getting those e- mails from Phil Nobile in

          6   '04, and I couldn't help him except to beg other

          7  agencies outside of New York to look at and he often

          8  said, do you think I will get fired. I said, I don't

          9  know. It's just a matter of we have to give people

         10  who are willing to say this is wrong on behalf of

         11  the kids a way to whistleblow that. Look what

         12  happened in the Enron situation. Look what happens

         13  in other situations. You can find people who will

         14  always abuse a system. I'm not going to say to

         15  Council Member Vallone, you can't or to Council

         16  Member Lanza, you can't. Of course, you will find

         17  somebody that abuses this system.

         18                 But ultimately, we're trying to find

         19  a way for people who came into teaching to make a

         20  difference in the lives of kids. Not to have a fight

         21  with their principal, but came into teaching to make

         22  a difference in the lives of kids. If they see a

         23  wrong, how do they say its wrong without them

         24  fearing that they will get fired. And then they will

         25  say wait, do I care for my own kids or do I care for
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          2  the kids in my classroom. You don't want them to

          3  have to make that decision. That is what the

          4  whistleblower protection is about.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: I think you

          6  will find that there is likely is a great deal of

          7  agreement on that point that nobody should ever be

          8  put in that position to make decisions like the one

          9  that you just described. Our responsibility, similar

         10  to yours, in researching the legality of this is

         11  enhanced by our own circumstances here today.

         12                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Right.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Many of us

         14  feel a need to take a careful look at that ourselves

         15  because it is really going to be our burden at the

         16  end to push it all the way. I'm sure that you

         17  appreciate that.

         18                 MS. WEINGARTEN: I understand.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: You know

         20  that there is obviously is a great deal of feeling

         21  that when there are teachers or other school

         22  personnel who see wrongs being done to students or

         23  harms to a school in any way, that they should be

         24  protected. And we just want to make sure that our

         25  actions here are appropriate, legal, and I
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          2  appreciate your testimony here today. That's all,

          3  Mr. Chairman. Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

          5  Council Member John Liu from Queens is also present.

          6  Our next questions will be done by Eric Gioia who is

          7  a prime sponsor of this proposed legislation.

          8  Council Member Gioia of Queens.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chairman. With all these lawyers up here, we may

         11  consider renaming this Committee. I think seven

         12  lawyers in total, the Lawyers Committee. Thank you,

         13  President Weingarten, for your time. It didn't occur

         14  to me at first and then I heard all these questions

         15  of preemption and I started looking around counting

         16  all the lawyers. But thank you very much for your

         17  time.

         18                 As the Council Member who's name on

         19  this bill is authored under as a prime sponsor, I

         20  want to talk a little bit about before I even get to

         21  any questions is my intent behind this piece of

         22  legislation. Over the past four years, my Committee,

         23  I Chair Oversight Investigations, has done a lot of

         24  work actually working within the current

         25  whistleblower laws in New York City, finding ways to
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          2  expand them and also expand the way our City

          3  educates City workers to their rights. And working

          4  with Council Member Sears and many other members.

          5                 We actually expanded the

          6  whistleblower laws in New York for the simple reason

          7  that no worker rather we are talking about workers

          8  at Enron or at the FBI or a municipal worker in New

          9  York City should have any fear of retaliation or

         10  retribution for speaking their mind when they see

         11  mismanagement or misconduct or corruption. As we

         12  have now begun to see, the fear of retribution or

         13  retaliation, it certainly has a chilling effect.

         14  What we have seen now from your testimony and from

         15  other conversations we have had and research my

         16  Committee has done, that there are many teachers out

         17  there who are very concerned what will happen if

         18  they speak their minds when they see something that

         19  is wrong. Something that may not rise to the level

         20  of traditional corruption or wrong doing, when they

         21  see or witness things that do not currently fall

         22  under current law.

         23                 I have heard some people say, well

         24  this is something that the union should take care

         25  and I hear that and I then wonder to myself, I say
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          2  if this is a right and if this is something that is

          3  in the best interest of children and if this is

          4  something that is in the best interest of the City

          5  in having a work force that feels free to speak its

          6  mind, speak to power when they see something wrong,

          7  how is that something that they should either be

          8  negotiate a way or how is that something that they

          9  should rely on a union leader to fight for and not

         10  be able fight for on their own. That there is in the

         11  intent behind the legislation.

         12                 What I've heard here and I thank all

         13  my colleagues for their patience as I'm getting to a

         14  long winded question, I hear questions, concerns

         15  about people being frivolous. Or I hear concern and

         16  I read concern from the Mayor's Office about that

         17  there be concern that someone is going to game the

         18  system and have a preemptive complaint. They know

         19  they are going to get in trouble because they've

         20  done something that they know they have done wrong

         21  and they are going to out there and gin something up

         22  to protect themselves.

         23                 I used to work at law firm down the

         24  street and we used to joke, you know you can't be

         25  fired for union activity when you are trying to
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          2  unionize a firm. We used to joke at the law firm

          3  that what you need to do is try to unionize the

          4  place and we prevent ourselves from getting fired.

          5  It was joke amongst lawyers. We know that actually

          6  doesn't happen. I guess I just ask you just very

          7  quickly because I know you agree that we are not

          8  here to protect frivolous complaints and we are not

          9  here to protect folks who have done wrong and are

         10  looking to game the system by making a complaint. I

         11  think you have probably answered it already, but if

         12  you just want to briefly agree with that. As a

         13  question.

         14                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Yes, of course I

         15  agree with that. Let me tell you -- Look, I think

         16  that was leading the witness. But let me say this in

         17  this way, teachers who want to do a good job every

         18  day, no good if people game the system or bring a

         19  frivolous complaint. It would do more harm to all of

         20  us if that happens under this bill. Look what the

         21  union did, the union did, when we saw even under the

         22  then current system an arbitrator, who put somebody

         23  back to work after the arbitrator saw e- mails from

         24  that person that sexually exploited a youngster.

         25                 When I saw that arbitration, we said

                                                            53

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  we need to change the contract. The union said that.

          3  This is not about gaming a system. This is about

          4  protecting the thousands of people. The Mayor and

          5  the Chancellor themselves have said, the

          6  overwhelming number of our members are terrific

          7  people who want to do a good job. It is about

          8  letting them do the wholeness of a good job. Our

          9  intent is the same as yours. It would hurt teachers

         10  if someone who had a frivolous complaint could game

         11  the system or could stop legitimate allegations

         12  against that person by using something like this.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         14                 Council Member Lappin of Manhattan.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chairman.

         17                 It is very upsetting to hear about

         18  teachers who are witnessing inappropriate or

         19  unethical activities and are afraid to speak up.

         20  Because I'm new to this Committee, and new to some

         21  of these issues, I wanted to ask a couple of basic

         22  questions.

         23                 One, if there is now a complaint made

         24  to a Council Member, to another entity, who

         25  investigates the claim of the wrongdoing?
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          2                 MS. WEINGARTEN: You know, It's funny,

          3  it reminds me of, remember when, I think it was

          4  Council Member Vallone and Moskowitz and Miller,

          5  held the Safety Hearing after we had all these

          6  safety incidents going out of control, and we

          7  couldn't get anyone to focus on it. We did several

          8  protests. The Mayor then, after one of the protests

          9  set a mayoculpa (phonetic), But the Council got on

         10  it immediately. I remember at one of those hearings,

         11  we had to beg several schools and it was a hearing

         12  when there was a snowstorm. I remember we had to beg

         13  members of several schools to come to testify before

         14  you about the issues, the safety issues in those

         15  schools. I think after that testimony, Council

         16  Member Vallone put in the bill about video cameras

         17  and things like that.

         18                 You put in bills about knowing and

         19  notifying people about the number of safety

         20  incidents and what we found was we could not promise

         21  them immunity if they testified. What I had to

         22  promise them is that with every fiber in my being, I

         23  would protect them. We had Carol Gristel (phonetic),

         24  my lawyer, others, we kept looking to see, there has

         25  to be a way that if somebody comes to the Council to
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          2  report, they have to be protected. But we could not

          3  find ways of ensuring on that. I don't know the

          4  answer. This is a long winded way of saying, I don't

          5  know the answer to your question. It seems logical

          6  that if somebody comes to a governmental agency,

          7  they will be immunized for the testimony that they

          8  give. But the reality is quite different.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: That is sort

         10  of amazing. That if somebody calls, Council Member

         11  Brewer's office or calls my office and says, this is

         12  what's happening, but I can't come to a hearing and

         13  testify or I can't put anything to you in writing

         14  because I might lose my job, that's incredible.

         15  Because if somebody calls my office to complain

         16  about a pot hole, I asked them to put in writing. It

         17  sort of a common practice that you want to be able

         18  to document it and forward on. That's amazing to me

         19  actually.

         20                 MS. WEINGARTEN: It may also be the

         21  nature of the system is changed, half the teachers

         22  have five or fewer years of service. They don't

         23  have, in some ways, they never have had a due

         24  process hearing, but they are really afraid. I have

         25  never seen a system that is so afraid to raise their

                                                            56

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  voice about issues. But they are afraid of it.

          3  That's one of the reasons why we have talked to

          4  Council Member Gioia about this for a while and

          5  while we are raising this bill.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: What happens

          7  now say Jane Doe does get retaliated against? Who

          8  investigates?

          9                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Nobody. There is no

         10  investigative arm for retaliation. What we have done

         11  these days is we have actually done something that

         12  maybe we shouldn't be doing which is we have said to

         13  people, file it as a union complaint and then if you

         14  are discriminated against, file a grievance that

         15  says you are discriminated against because you

         16  exercised some rights under the union.

         17                 You don't have a right -- the perfect

         18  example is if these two ladies from John Kennedy

         19  High School, it is a perfect example. They saw

         20  something that was wrong with the grading.

         21  Immediately, they got excessed. And it is only

         22  because they were willing to come forward and say

         23  this was wrong. We asked them let's see the

         24  documents. Let's see what is going on because if we

         25  raise it, we want to make sure that we have
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          2  documents that we can go forward and show people to

          3  prove your allegation that something was tampered

          4  with. Right now, de facto, we are doing

          5  investigation in a way that we know how too, but we

          6  are not armed with investigatory power nor should we

          7  be.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Right. It

          9  doesn't fair. My last question is do you have a

         10  sense of how prevalent, I mean how big of a problem

         11  is this? How many people? It is hard to say, I'm

         12  sure.

         13                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Look, I would hope --

         14  even in the darkest days, I love the school system.

         15  I love what it is suppose to do for kids. I root for

         16  it every single day whether I fight with the

         17  Chancellor or not. Because this public education

         18  system is the best one, the best urban system

         19  probably in the world. I would hope it is not as

         20  prevalent as I fear. I would hope that people in

         21  schools don't fear for their jobs versus whether

         22  they raise an issue on behalf of kids. But I have

         23  gotten too many e- mails and too many letters and

         24  too many pulls at my sleeve in the last three or

         25  four years, where I have to think through how do I
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          2  help folks who want to help kids.

          3                 I have been in too many meetings

          4  where somebody has raised an issue like this and

          5  there has been huge applause or huge head shaking.

          6  When you see that, where people are saying, I can't

          7  raise this on behalf of kids. I'm just going to turn

          8  my head away because I don't want to lose my job.

          9  That's a bad thing. When you have situations, you

         10  will hear it from some other witnesses who were

         11  willing to stand up. When you hear their stories, it

         12  cries out to do something. That's why we have raised

         13  this with you. We are trying to do a lot of things

         14  to work with the Mayor, work with the Chancellor,

         15  make things better.

         16                 The more pressure there is on this

         17  system to reduce the number of referrals to special

         18  ed, to reduce the number of incidents in safety, to

         19  lift up the graduation rate, to have higher scores,

         20  the more pressure that is there, the more pressure

         21  that is on the ground for people to turn their backs

         22  away from what they say may be a legitimate issue to

         23  help children. We don't want to see that happen

         24  here.

         25                 I was very proud of PS256, social
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          2  worker, the guidance counselor, and in the tragic

          3  case of Nicks Mary Browne (phonetic) because they

          4  tried. They did what they were suppose to do. You

          5  want people in the schools to do what they are

          6  suppose to do. Ultimately, that's what we are trying

          7  to do here. Given them a sense that if they report

          8  something that is in the best interest of children,

          9  that they are not going to get slammed for it.

         10  That's what this bill is trying to do.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Absolutely.

         12  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you. We

         14  have several other council members. I'm going to try

         15  to ask all of them their responses to be brief as

         16  possible so that the other panels that are scheduled

         17  to testify that they have a full compliment of

         18  council members present to hear what they have to

         19  say. Council Member Andrew Lanza of Staten Island

         20  and then Council Member Koppell of the Bronx.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: I figured you

         22  would say that before it was my turn. I understand

         23  why. I will be brief, Chairman, and thank you. Thank

         24  you for spending time here. First let me say, I

         25  think you can hear and you see that we all agree
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          2  that the goal of this bill is desirable. I think we

          3  are all on the same page with respect to achieving

          4  that. But I think there are some issues and perhaps

          5  there is some tweaking that is necessary.

          6                 There was a lot of discussion with

          7  respect to the civil service law 75- b and I think

          8  Councilman's Fidler's remarks are important and need

          9  to be considered with respect to preemption. I'm

         10  glad that Council Member Garodnick cleansed the

         11  record with respect to when that is triggered. It is

         12  not necessarily or only when there are illegal

         13  actions that are being disclosed. It is also when

         14  there are regulations and rules, violations of such.

         15  I think that is important that we make sure that

         16  this bill or any bill of this type accomplishes the

         17  goals that it is not preempted, that is not covering

         18  ground that is already -- I think you agree with

         19  that as well.

         20                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Absolutely.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Another common

         22  theme that I have heard of Council Member Gioia and

         23  Councilman Vallone with respect to frivolous or the

         24  potential or we don't want to create a system that

         25  allows or facilitates or even encourages frivolous
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          2  actions. I'm very heartened and I'm glad to hear

          3  your comments of a few moments ago. I think you put

          4  it perfectly that if we allow people to game the

          5  system, we are going to hurt the system.

          6                 MS. WEINGARTEN: I agree with you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: We are going to

          8  hurt the very people we are trying to help. The good

          9  people, I think you described them perfectly again

         10  that are attracted to the system because they want

         11  to make a difference in people's lives. My wife and

         12  baby sister are both public school teachers and I

         13  think that's why they do it. It is so important that

         14  we make sure that we don't create a system that

         15  works against the good people in the system who are

         16  the overwhelming majority.

         17                 In talking to my wife and her

         18  colleagues, you often hear like anywhere else, not

         19  just in the school system, but sometimes the

         20  bureaucracy allows the bad apples to rule the roost

         21  and that just doesn't work. I think what you said is

         22  perfect about that. It is important that we make

         23  this as tight as it can be. During your discussion

         24  with Council Member Vallone, it was discussed that

         25  one of the protections against frivolous action was
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          2  that it would take an adverse personnel action to

          3  trigger the protection, if you will, of this law. My

          4  concern there is that if you look at what defines

          5  adverse personal action, there is certain things

          6  there that offer absolutely no protection at all.

          7                 For instance, the failure to promote

          8  is tantamount to an adverse personnel action. In

          9  fact, that is no affirmative action at all. The

         10  overwhelming number majority of the members in the

         11  system are never promoted. There is no system. My

         12  wife hasn't been promoted in 12 years. It is not

         13  because she is not a great teacher, it is because

         14  there is no such thing as senior teachers and

         15  managerial teachers and things like that. Also, when

         16  you talk about the failure to transfer or the

         17  failure to assign, that would include 99 percent of

         18  all the teachers in the system. That would mean that

         19  99 percent of all the teachers in the system, if

         20  they were so inclined and of course we are only

         21  talking about a few, would be able to say that an

         22  adverse personnel action had been taken against

         23  them.

         24                 I think that is something that really

         25  needs to be looked at and addressed. As you said,
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          2  that is one of the protections against frivolous

          3  suits and actions. I'm not so sure that it is a

          4  protection at all as it is presently defined. I

          5  would like to hear your comments on that.

          6                 MS. WEINGARTEN: It was whispered to

          7  me as you were talking and she was whispering to me

          8  that this is a normal definition of adverse

          9  personnel actions. This is a unique circumstance and

         10  a unique bill. If there is some tweaking that we

         11  need to do to ensure that it gets to the attended

         12  purpose, we are not opposed to that kind of

         13  tweaking. The issue about promotion was much more --

         14  when we started this process with this bill, there

         15  were several people from the CSA who were working on

         16  it as well and they had more of that issue about

         17  promotion. They have since not, but there were

         18  several people. It is much more their issue than our

         19  issue. The issue in terms of assignment and transfer

         20  and things like that were issues that aren't the

         21  normal in these normal definitions.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: You can see

         23  what I'm getting at.

         24                 MS. WEINGARTEN: I can punt that to

         25  the lawyers.

                                                            64

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: But you do see

          3  what I'm getting at.

          4                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Yes, I understand.

          5  Look, the issue for us and I'm pleased that you

          6  raised it and that Council Member Vallone and

          7  Council Member Garodnick and Council Member Fidler

          8  has raised it, because this is serious stuff to us.

          9  We want something that gets to the intended purpose

         10  that Council Member Gioia said and we have said. We

         11  want it to work in that purpose and not to have

         12  people game the system. We agree with you. If it

         13  requires those kinds of tweaks to do that, we would

         14  certainly be open to those kind of tweaks to do that

         15  so that people, that we all believe that the intent

         16  and the bill are one.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Thank you. I

         18  think we are all in agreement on that point. Thank

         19  you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         21  Council Member Oliver Koppell of the Bronx and then

         22  Council Member John Liu and then Council Member

         23  DeBlasio, our last witness.

         24                 MS. WEINGARTEN: I don't think I have

         25  been in the company of so many lawyers in a very
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          2  long time.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I know.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I'm taking a

          5  risk here because I'm going to be a little bit of a

          6  lawyer in this too. But I want to make sure what the

          7  intention is. And I think by asking this question,

          8  I'm going to get to that. I have great respect for

          9  your lawyer who I know very well, Carol. I do this

         10  with some reluctance. If we look at paragraph 1B,

         11  and I am being lawyer like now, I'm sorry 3B. No,

         12  wait, it's not 3B. The numbering is a little funny.

         13                 MS. WEINGARTEN: I think that is why I

         14  was getting confused when Council Member Vallone was

         15  speaking.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: It seems to

         17  me it is the key operative paragraph. It has a B in

         18  front of it and 1. It says no officer, employee of

         19  the Department of Education shall take an adverse

         20  personnel action with respect to another officer,

         21  employee of such department, who acting in the best

         22  interest of students has made a complaint or report

         23  regarding department of school policy or procedure

         24  that presents a risk of harm to the health, safety,

         25  general welfare or educational welfare of students.
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          2  That's the key operative section.

          3                 I hope you would answer yes that you

          4  would have no objection to adding after that, as a

          5  result of making such complaint or report. Because

          6  we don't want to say that you can't take an -- I'm

          7  addressing the point raised by Council Member

          8  Vallone and Garodnick and Fidler. We don't want to

          9  say that you can't take an adverse personnel action

         10  against the person because they may have made a very

         11  legitimate complaint. But on the other hand, have

         12  thrown three kids down the stairs last week and you

         13  want to deal with that even though they made a

         14  legitimate complaint that students were not getting

         15  their lunch. I think you wouldn't mind those words.

         16                 In fact, you have something like that

         17  on the next page when you talk about legal action. I

         18  call that to your attention because you do have a

         19  good sentence there. It says it shall be a defense

         20  to any action brought pursuant to subdivision E of

         21  this section that the adverse personnel action was

         22  predicated upon grounds other than the employee's

         23  exercise of rights protected. That's the kind of

         24  language you have. But that only applies where there

         25  is a legal action. If you had language like that in
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          2  the operative section or language such as I

          3  produced, I think we would have the result you

          4  intend. You don't want to say no adverse personnel

          5  action. But you want to say no adverse personnel

          6  action in retaliation for the whistleblower, right?.

          7  Am I right about that?

          8                 MS. WEINGARTEN: You are absolutely

          9  right in concept. The language at first blush,

         10  sounds right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No, I'm not

         12  asking --

         13                 MS. WEINGARTEN: I'm sure there are a

         14  gaggle of lawyers who will say and who will want to

         15  look at that language again. But I think you are

         16  right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: That's fine.

         18                 MS. WEINGARTEN: But I'm also --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I'm glad to

         20  hear you say that because otherwise it would look

         21  like you were trying --

         22                 MS. WEINGARTEN: No.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: -- To get

         24  something that I don't think we want to get to.

         25                 MS. WEINGARTEN: No, we are not. I
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          2  think and I'm glad you raised Section F on page four

          3  because that was the language I was trying to refer

          4  back to when Council Member Vallone talked about

          5  frivolity. Because this specifically says that if

          6  there is that kind of frivolous, suspicious action,

          7  the employee would have to pay the employer's legal

          8  fees and reasonable cost.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Let me just,

         10  since we are talking about, two things:  First of

         11  all, I would like and would like to ask for a

         12  meeting on the Kennedy issue which I have looked at

         13  a little bit and frankly, I'm a little confused

         14  about. Let me just say that. I haven't come to a

         15  conclusion on it. I'd like to meet with you on it.

         16  Because Kennedy is in my district, as you know.

         17                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And the other

         19  thing I would like to say is that the school

         20  personnel at PS 286 in the Bronx in connection with

         21  the Rochan Brown (phonetic) case were equally as

         22  diligent --

         23                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Absolutely.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: -- As people

         25  in the Brooklyn.
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          2                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Absolutely right.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I just want

          4  to say that because I've looked into that too, and

          5  there is more to be said, but the school personnel

          6  in both those cases as far as I'm concerned deserve

          7  an awful lot of credit.

          8                 MS. WEINGARTEN: One of the reasons

          9  that we wrote and I should have been more attentive

         10  as well to the role of attendance teachers as well

         11  as social workers and guidance counselors, but one

         12  of the reasons we wrote the op ed piece that we

         13  wrote that I think appeared in the New York Daily

         14  News last week is that we have gotten a lot of

         15  people who have said, let's see if we can do more as

         16  a school community to try to help in this regard.

         17  Someone had said to me and it seems so simple, but

         18  unless you are in a school and you talk to people

         19  about this, you don't know that when school people

         20  as well as ACS personnel, they could play telephone

         21  tag for days on end because they are all so busy. If

         22  you just require them to talk to each other face to

         23  face, they would learn a lot more about a situation

         24  than if they are doing it through telephone tag or

         25  e- mail.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

          3  Council Member John Liu of Queens.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you. Mr.

          5  Chairman, in the interest of time, I will defer my

          6  questions to the next panel.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me just

          8  recognize Council Member Domenic Recchia of Brooklyn

          9  has joined us. Did you say go to the next

         10  questioner, John, I'm sorry.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Yes. I object.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You object.

         13  Okay.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Then let me take

         15  my 20 minutes now.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: For the record,

         17  he objects. Council Member Bill DeBlasio of

         18  Brooklyn.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chair. I appreciate the point raised by Council

         21  Member Koppell, because I think that was an

         22  important clarification everybody needed. I

         23  appreciate your answer, Ms. Weingarten. I want to

         24  get back to the motivation for the bill. I think for

         25  all of us non- lawyers, it would be helpful to get
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          2  your analysis both as someone representing teachers

          3  and also as a lawyer of the types of complaints that

          4  might be falling through the cracks right now. Here

          5  is what I'm seeing from the letter sent by Michael

          6  Best. We are all seeing today for the first time.

          7                 There is three sections he points

          8  too. There is current law covers something like this

          9  in his view. In the first section, he says, when the

         10  information provided by the employee regards a

         11  violation of law, rule, or regulation that creates a

         12  danger to the public or that they believe

         13  constitutes an improper governmental action. Second

         14  section regards when the allegation is one of

         15  corruption, criminal activity, or conflict of

         16  interest. And then the third section relates to

         17  allegations of corrupt or other criminal activities,

         18  conflict of interest, unethical conduct or

         19  misconduct.

         20                 As a non- lawyer, what I see here is

         21  if someone thinks something is being done wrong that

         22  is having an adverse effect on children, on their

         23  colleagues, on health and safety or whatever, but

         24  isn't recognized as being criminal or a direct

         25  conflict of interest or an instance of pure
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          2  corruption, those are the folks not covered.

          3                 MS. WEINGARTEN: The answer is they

          4  are not covered and the other answer is take a

          5  situation like we have just gone through at Brooklyn

          6  Tech where people reported some mismanagement about

          7  some funds in that school, which one would have

          8  thought would have been clearly covered under

          9  current law. People were still retaliated against

         10  and they had no right of action nor did they have a

         11  right to raise these issues in any form. When

         12  someone blew the whistle about where Dr. McCaskill

         13  lived, that complaint because it was found to be

         14  salient by Mr. Condone (phonetic), the person who

         15  blew the whistle on that would have been protected.

         16  What is starting to happen with many of these cases

         17  is that if the complaint is not substantiated as an

         18  illegal action, the person is retaliated against.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: I'm glad you

         20  raised the point of Brooklyn Tech because

         21  mismanagement is one of the things that is obviously

         22  in the eye of the beholder. So there could be a huge

         23  distance between mismanagement based on corruption,

         24  conflict of interest, whatever versus mismanagement

         25  on bad judgment, misunderstanding, whatever.
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          2                 My problem here is now I'm now

          3  thinking back to the three years I spent as a

          4  community school board member, I can't tell you how

          5  many times I received anonymous letters from

          6  teachers and other employees of the school system

          7  with concerns. It struck me as very odd in the

          8  beginning. It was before I had had as much

          9  experience as I have had now both as a parent and as

         10  a public servant with our school system. I remember

         11  at some school board meetings talking to individual

         12  teachers and they were very animated in their

         13  concerns about things happening to their school

         14  almost more on a policy level or personnel

         15  decisions, things that might have had demographic

         16  considerations, racial considerations, gender

         17  considerations, a whole range of things that might

         18  have fallen short of illegal activity or corrupt

         19  activity, but certainly that begged real serious

         20  questions about leadership, management, policy.

         21                 I remember consistently saying to

         22  people, why don't you come forward. Why don't you

         23  put in writing, et cetera. And this extreme fear

         24  which was really an eye opener to me, something I

         25  would not have expected. I think a lot of the
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          2  concerns raised by my colleagues today are very fair

          3  and honorable ones. I'm happy to hear you say you

          4  are looking forward to working with everyone on

          5  perfecting the language.

          6                 I do want to say, Mr. Best's letter

          7  points out to me just how much his response does not

          8  address a whole range of concerns. You could almost

          9  throw the first amendment in there. Aren't school

         10  employees also suppose to have a right to free

         11  speech about what's happening in their work life. I

         12  just want to say I think the crucial thing I'm

         13  feeling, is this letter does not respond to what you

         14  are talking about.

         15                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Correct. And I think

         16  what's happened is that when Mr. Best raises an

         17  issue like an textbook, we're talking about when he

         18  looks at an issue like a textbook, it just misses

         19  the boat about what we're talking about. We're

         20  talking about issues and that's why I go through

         21  these three examples. I had a case today where we

         22  had another needle stick injury and I'm constantly

         23  trying to figure out where do we bring this so that

         24  both children and the educators get some needed

         25  remedy.
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          2                 If people are willing to take and

          3  Representative Gioia said, rights. I look at this as

          4  rights and responsibilities. Because one would in a

          5  perfect world, one would want to say that a teacher

          6  does have responsibility to always act in the best

          7  interest in children and would have the

          8  responsibility to come forward if he or she saw a

          9  problem, just like in a child abuse or neglect case.

         10  Where you see this very frequently is in issues of

         11  grading, in issues of mismanagement of funds in

         12  schools and in issues of whether or not children get

         13  services that cost some additional money such as

         14  services for special ed, ELL, or what not. That's

         15  where you see it most frequently.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: I just want

         17  to finish by saying, Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the

         18  opportunity. I just want to say that having been

         19  through two very deeply felt hearings related to

         20  child abuse lately, and I said during those hearings

         21  that the school officials of all levels involved

         22  really did remarkable work in trying to protect

         23  those children, that we also have to be mindful in

         24  all this that anything that inhibits an employees

         25  willingness to come forward, in cases where who
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          2  knows what layers of complexity and controversy and

          3  personal relationship may exist, but whenever it

          4  might involve the health and safety of a child, I

          5  don't want to see anything inhibiting someone from

          6  exercising their free speech rights. I think that is

          7  another element of this. Sadly, this moment in our

          8  City's history, that's another thing we really have

          9  to focus on. Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         11  Before we thank the witness, let me just say that I

         12  didn't ask any questions. My normal process is I

         13  allow the members of the Committee to ask questions

         14  and obviously all the questions that I was going to

         15  ask were already asked which is good. Let me just

         16  say that as someone that has been involved in

         17  education as a parent activist since 1980 and as

         18  member of community school boards for 15 years and

         19  as President for community school board 6 for seven

         20  to eight years, I have been on both sides of the

         21  fence. Hearing complaints of acts of retaliations by

         22  principals and supervisors and hearing acts of

         23  retaliation against principals and supervisors by

         24  superintendents and deputy superintendents. I've

         25  heard the whole gamete.
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          2                 I've also as you know formerly, Madam

          3  President, school boards were the ones who use to

          4  prefer charges against all employees. I was in the

          5  role of voting on allegations of wrong doing against

          6  employees at all levels. But more specifically

          7  recently, I received a letter from one of my

          8  constituents who happens to be a teacher. This

          9  individual is not tenured. As a result of a

         10  situation that happened with some little girls and

         11  boys, the teacher felt it necessary to communicate

         12  to the parent about the act of the child. The mother

         13  was not very pleased and the next day, an allegation

         14  of corporal punishment was alleged. That teacher was

         15  obviously, as a result of the corporal punishment,

         16  reassigned to the rubber room. The rubber room is

         17  where they send staff that are up on allegations of

         18  wrong doing and what have you and so forth

         19  especially corporal punishment. Because this

         20  individual was not tenured, that individual's

         21  paperwork is being processed to be fired because of

         22  the allegation.

         23                 Quite frankly, assuming what my

         24  constituent is communicating to me is true, that is

         25  totally wrong. She is in the grievance process now
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          2  and I know that and I hope and pray that your union,

          3  UFT, will go the full distance even if necessary to

          4  go to court in order to defend this member's rights.

          5  But what she said to me in her letter was that in

          6  essence, even though if the allegation is unfounded,

          7  she has been tainted as someone that has done

          8  something wrong and that she truly feels that this

          9  is negatively impacting her career as an educator.

         10                 I think that where things like this

         11  happen and it appears as though that the

         12  Administration is not appeared to be doing

         13  appropriate investigation to determine whether or

         14  not the allegations or false or whether or not they

         15  are true. They seem to be taking action against the

         16  employee rather than waiting for, I guess, a finding

         17  of fact and to be judged in this particular case, it

         18  would be, if in fact the person, if my constituent

         19  was a tenured teacher, it would be in front of a

         20  panel or an arbitrator in order to determine that.

         21  Since that individual is not tenured, I think the

         22  law says that anyone can be fired for no reason.

         23                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Right, exactly.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So I'm not happy

         25  as a Council Member where those types of allegations
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          2  are made against one of my constituents. I turn to

          3  you to help protect that member of yours and my

          4  constituent. I will be talking to you more in detail

          5  about that.

          6                 I want to thank you for coming here

          7  and testifying regarding this Intro 83 and I hope

          8  that the questions by my colleagues and your

          9  responses have shed some light on this particular

         10  matter and we look forward to working with you in

         11  the future.

         12                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Thank you for all

         16  your time.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You are welcome.

         18  We have invited Jill Levy, the President of Council

         19  Supervisors and Administrators. I don't see that she

         20  is here. Is there a representative from CSA that is

         21  present? We will be receiving written testimony from

         22  Jill Levy, the President of Council Supervisors and

         23  Administrators. The next individual, I'm going to

         24  ask come forward is Carmen Alvarez, Vice President,

         25  Special Education UFT and the next will be a
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          2  teacher's panel. Okay.

          3                 MS. ALVAREZ: Thank you very much. And

          4  I'd like to offer a change, if you don't mind,

          5  Councilman Johnson.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Jackson.

          7                 MS. ALVAREZ: Jackson. Excuse me.

          8  That's a great start. I would like the actual

          9  teacher members to speak before me and I would like

         10  to close after everybody speaks, if you don't mind.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That sounds real

         12  good to me. Quite frankly, I would love to hear from

         13  the teachers first rather than from the union heads

         14  because it really gives us an insight from actual

         15  members that are impacted. Not to say you are not a

         16  member, but that would be great. I appreciate it

         17  very much.

         18                 MS. ALVAREZ: Okay.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: With that, I'd

         20  like to call panel one. We have Maria E. Colon from

         21  John F. Kennedy High School in the Bronx and Greg

         22  Lundahl, did I pronounce your name correctly, sir?

         23  Okay. From Washington Irving High School of

         24  Manhattan. Please come forward. Maria, please you

         25  may begin your testimony.
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          2                 MS. COLON: Good afternoon.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Pull your mic up

          4  a little closer to you.

          5                 MS. COLON: Okay. My name is Maria

          6  Colon. I was a student at John F. Kennedy High

          7  School and returned to the school as a bilingual

          8  social studies teacher in 1995. I was the school's

          9  UFT Chapter Leader from 2003 to 2005.

         10                 What has happened to me over the past

         11  year has put my career in jeopardy and undermined

         12  the integrity of the school that I love. In May of

         13  last year, two English teachers told me they

         14  suspected that the Administration had inflated the

         15  scores of the January English regents exam to boost

         16  the school's academic ratings. The teachers noticed

         17  a pattern of about 20 students who had failed the

         18  exam, but subsequently had their scores adjusted

         19  upwards, sometimes by as much as 25 percentage

         20  points. It was dishonest and we felt that it was a

         21  clear violation of the New York State testing

         22  procedures that compromised the entire scoring

         23  system. At no time were teachers or guidance

         24  counselors informed of the changes.

         25                 Following my advice, the teachers
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          2  went to the principal, who ignored them. So I

          3  organized a group of English teachers to go to the

          4  principal to discuss the issue. The principal

          5  insisted that the Administration had the right to

          6  change the grades. We held three more meetings with

          7  the principal to urge him to act, but he refused to

          8  do anything to rectify the situation. For the

          9  protection of the students at JFK, we then filed a

         10  complaint with the State Department of Education in

         11  May.

         12                 The State, however, punted the probe

         13  to the City. A Department of Education spokesman

         14  told the New York Times columnist, Michael Winerip,

         15  last month that City investigators concluded that

         16  the complaint was unsubstantiated since the

         17  principal had the right to change grades. There was

         18  no written report, however. But the spokesperson

         19  admitted that the City did not look into whether the

         20  changes were appropriate.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: As you saying

         22  the spokesperson for DOE admitted that they did not

         23  look into the allegations --

         24                 MS. COLON: Into whether the changes

         25  were appropriate, sir.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: He said that?

          3                 MS. COLON: Yes. It was in the New

          4  York Times.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Who was that?

          6  I'm sorry. Do you know who that was?

          7                 MS. COLON: It was in the New York

          8  Times article, columnist Michael Winerip wrote the

          9  article.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. I'm sorry.

         11  Continue. That was so astonishing to me that they

         12  said they didn't look into the allegations, but they

         13  found that the allegation was unsubstantiated. Is

         14  that correct? Am I hearing correct?

         15                 MS. COLON: Yes, sir. I was shocked

         16  too.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         18                 MS. COLON: The very day I filed the

         19  complaint with the State, my principal called the

         20  school system's Commissioner for Investigations

         21  alleging that I had student transcripts in my

         22  office. Investigators rifled through my office the

         23  next day and found nothing. The press picked upon

         24  the grade change story. I, as chapter leader, was

         25  quoted in the news stories, making me even more
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          2  vulnerable.

          3                 In May, my UFT chapter took a vote of

          4  no confidence against the Administration. About 60

          5  teachers and 30 students also staged a protest

          6  outside of Kennedy High School in early June. Anyone

          7  who was involved in that protest was retaliated

          8  against in one way or another. In my case, on the

          9  last day of school, I received a letter notifying me

         10  that I was being excessed. I was one of 17 staffers

         11  in bilingual education who lost their positions at

         12  Kennedy in September. I believe that the

         13  Administration got rid of all those bilingual and

         14  ESL instructors to justify getting rid of me.

         15                 The school served more than 2,000 JFK

         16  students who needed our services, whose education

         17  was sacrificed because of our political action.

         18  Children who were mandated for bilingual education

         19  were told to go to school elsewhere or were left to

         20  sink or swim in English only classes at Kennedy. In

         21  September, I was falsely accused of sending student

         22  transcripts with their names on them to the press. I

         23  have been reassigned to a rubber room pending the

         24  outcome of the investigation.

         25                 In October, I received a revised
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          2  annual performance rating. I was given a U for the

          3  2004- 2005 school year. I was stunned. I had never

          4  received a U rating before, even for an observation.

          5  This January, I was brought up on 3020a charges for

          6  termination for insubordination and not following

          7  department policy. Why is my teaching career in

          8  jeopardy? Simply for telling the truth and trying to

          9  protect the integrity of the educational system and

         10  the interests of students. I urge you to pass the

         11  whistleblower legislation before you. Teachers like

         12  myself desperately need this legislation. Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Before we

         14  entertain any questions or comments from my

         15  colleagues, we are going to hear from Gregg Lundahl

         16  first.

         17                 MR. LUNDAHL: Thank you. My name is

         18  Gregg Lundahl and I have taught in New York City

         19  public schools for the last 16 years. I have been

         20  the chapter leader at Washington Irving High School

         21  for eight of those years. It has become increasingly

         22  evident to me that teachers are the only people in

         23  the system who consistently are willing to raise the

         24  flag when our students welfare is on the line.

         25                 Disorder and violence surged in my

                                                            86

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  school after Chancellor Klein dismantled the old

          3  student suspension structure in the 2002- 2003

          4  school year, but never established a new one. Our

          5  school was no longer safe for teaching and learning.

          6  A chair hurled by a student from an upper story

          7  window struck an expectant mother as she walked by

          8  the building. Our students had to contend with

          9  attempted rape, muggings, and gang attacks in the

         10  halls. Large groups of students freely roamed the

         11  halls and barged into classrooms where they

         12  interrupted lessons and, in some cases, attacked the

         13  students in the classrooms while they were being

         14  taught.

         15                 A stampeding crowd of students on

         16  their way to view a fight trampled a teacher. An

         17  outsider ran around inside the building flashing a

         18  gun at our students. A Snapple machine was thrown

         19  down the stairwell. About two years ago, the School

         20  Leadership Team collected 800 signatures from

         21  parents asking for more security. The Chancellor

         22  ignored the petition.

         23                 The teacher who was trampled by

         24  students was given a disciplinary letter in her file

         25  after she went to the press to report the incident.
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          2  UFT President Randi Weingarten, listened to us when

          3  no one else would. With her support, teachers and

          4  students held a rally in front of our school calling

          5  for more security. The rally attracted massive media

          6  attention, which prompted the Mayor to take

          7  responsibility. Washington Irving High School, in

          8  January 2004, became one of the 12 impact schools

          9  where City police officers were sent in to restore

         10  calm.

         11                 I found myself in the line of fire

         12  for my efforts. My principal threatened to give me a

         13  letter in the file for, as a dean of discipline,

         14  confronting a student with a cell phone in the

         15  school against Chancellor's policies. The principal

         16  told me at the meeting she called to present the

         17  disciplinary letter that the letter was really for

         18  going to the press about violence in the school. She

         19  rescinded the letter after she made the point.

         20                 Media attention waned after a while,

         21  along with the Mayor's help. The City reduced the

         22  police presence. We had fewer school safety and

         23  fewer deans. On March 8, 2005, I sent an e- mail to

         24  the Chancellor saying that I thought the reductions

         25  were unwise. The very next day, I was summoned to
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          2  the Department of Education's Office of Special

          3  Investigations and interrogated about innocuous

          4  nicknames that the kids call me and about old

          5  allegations concerning asking a student to take off

          6  her headgear, though as a dean, I was enforcing a

          7  Chancellor's regulation.

          8                 I am certain that there was a direct

          9  connection between this investigation and my

         10  whistleblowing. The principal had found the

         11  student's complaint unfounded on two separate prior

         12  occasions, but the investigation was reopened again

         13  after I spoke out about safety at the school. The

         14  DOE investigators called off the probe after it

         15  quickly became clear to them that there was nothing

         16  to the charges.

         17                 We, teachers take our careers into

         18  our own hands when we break up students fights, when

         19  we report unsafe conditions in school, when we act

         20  on our concern for our students' safety. We, who

         21  have dedicated our own lives to students need to be

         22  able to speak out without fear when we see that our

         23  students' learning environment is in jeopardy.

         24  Teachers make the choice every day whether they

         25  should report or risk their jobs. The DOE code of
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          2  silence is real and we must break through it before

          3  more students are hurt. We urge you to pass this

          4  important legislation. Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: First let me

          6  just say to both of you, I want to thank you for

          7  coming in and giving testimony as to your personal

          8  experiences on allegations of whistleblowing against

          9  DOE for what you stated to be protected activity.

         10  Are both of you union representatives?

         11                 MS. COLON: Yes.

         12                 MR. LUNDAHL: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: As protected

         14  activity, even if you were not a union employee, the

         15  activities that you were alleging that were wrong

         16  are protected of my understanding. It seems as

         17  though based on your testimony that if this was a

         18  criminal forum, they would be trying to sentence you

         19  not to life in prison, but to the death penalty.

         20  Because in an administrative forum where someone is

         21  being fired, that is comparable to someone being

         22  sentenced to death in a criminal arena. Let me just

         23  say that I am totally against the death penalty. I

         24  say that personally.

         25                 Your testimony is shocking to me as
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          2  someone that has been involved in labor relations

          3  for 22 years. This is the first that I have heard of

          4  the details of both of your testimony and I am

          5  shocked to say the least. I am sure that your union

          6  will fight to the last dollar in order to protect

          7  your rights as employees and your rights as union

          8  representatives. With that, let me turn to my

          9  colleague, John Liu who has the first question under

         10  this panel. Council Member John Liu of Queens.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chairman for holding this hearing on this important

         13  matter. I just had a question for Ms. Colon

         14  concerning your relegation to the rubber room. The

         15  charges were filed in September and is there any

         16  kind of time frame that you have been given as to

         17  how long you will be in that rubber room?

         18                 MS. COLON: No, sir and I'm unable to

         19  comment at this point in time in terms of my

         20  allegations or for that matter the charges. But I

         21  was given my charges in January of 2006. I was sent

         22  to the rubber room in September. I was given my

         23  formal charges in January.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So it took four

         25  months before you actually knew what you were sent
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          2  there for?

          3                 MS. COLON: That is correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: At this point,

          5  you have no idea how long you are going to remain in

          6  that rubber room?

          7                 MS. COLON: No, sir.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Mr. Chairman, I

          9  know that we have talked about this issue in the

         10  past that it seems to be a black box of a rubber

         11  room that we are often talking about. I would

         12  encourage that we look into this matter more

         13  carefully. I think that there are a lot of questions

         14  about this, but I don't want to intrude any further.

         15  Ms. Colon, do you have any idea how many of your

         16  colleagues in the rubber room -- are you at liberty

         17  to say which rubber room you are in? Okay, forget

         18  about that.

         19                 MS. COLON: Yes, I'll answer that. I'm

         20  in the Bronx. I am at 501 Cortlandt.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What region is

         22  that please?

         23                 MS. COLON: That's region one and

         24  region two.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Region one and

                                                            92

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  region two. Okay. Sure. Just identify yourself for

          3  the record.

          4                 MS. GRISTEL: I'm Carol Gristel

          5  (phonetic) and I'm counsel with the United

          6  Federation of Teachers. I just wanted to explain

          7  that because Maria is facing charges --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Can you pull the

          9  mic up a little closer to you please?

         10                 MS. GRISTEL: Sorry. Because Maria is

         11  facing charges under 3020a, we and her specific

         12  counsel from our union has asked her not to speak

         13  about the specific charges.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: That's fine. And

         15  I'm not asking about --

         16                 MS. GRISTEL: I just wanted to add

         17  that we do know in general that there are over 400

         18  people in the rubber rooms around the City at this

         19  point in time.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I think perhaps,

         21  Mr. Chairman, if I may ask this person a couple of

         22  questions about the rubber room.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Sure. As long as

         24  counsel advises that she can answer them. I'm

         25  talking about the counsel herself. I'm sorry. Go
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          2  ahead, yes, Council Member Liu, continue.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Because my

          4  questions about the rubber room have nothing to do

          5  specifically with Ms. Colon. I was just using that

          6  because she raised it. Out of the 400 teachers who

          7  are in the rubber room, they are in the rubber room

          8   -- they are still teachers.

          9                 MS. GRISTEL: Well, it is actually

         10  more than teachers. There are even some assistant

         11  principals in there too. But it is 400 educators,

         12  put it that way.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: 400 educators.

         14  But most of them are teachers?

         15                 MS. GRISTEL: Yes, most of them are

         16  teachers.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Is there a sense

         18  that being sent to the rubber room -- I know that

         19  there have been cases, very high profile cases in

         20  the past, where teachers have been suspended or

         21  taken out of the classroom for what I think everyone

         22  one of us in this room would consider a real reason

         23  to be sent to the rubber room. Is there a sense that

         24  the rubber room is being used as a way to punish

         25  teachers or is it a legitimate way to have charges

                                                            94

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  pending against teachers or disciplinary actions

          3  pending against teachers? Is it a legitimate place

          4  for teachers to remain in while the charges are

          5  pending or while the disciplinary actions are being

          6  contemplated?

          7                 MS. GRISTEL: I don't think there is

          8  one answer to that. Certainly, in certain

          9  circumstances, the Board of Education, the

         10  Department has to if there has been allegations

         11  against a person that might bring danger to

         12  children, it makes sense that this person should not

         13  be teaching or in the classroom while these charges

         14  are being investigated. But in that case, they ought

         15  to be investigated very quickly so that a person is

         16  not under this taint and out of the classroom for so

         17  long.

         18                 In other cases, we believe that the

         19  Department just routinely will pull anybody out.

         20  Somebody mentioned before, I'm sorry I don't

         21  remember, I guess it was Councilman Jackson about

         22  charges of corporal punishment. We feel that there

         23  is a routinely and-- that the Department incorrectly

         24  will pull somebody out with any allegation like that

         25  and we have a lot of people who we are trying to
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          2  help in situations, fights that occurred, who end

          3  with allegations of corporal punishment and they are

          4  sitting in the rubber room for a long time. I think

          5  it goes both ways. There are many people in there

          6  that should have been investigated and out a long

          7  time ago.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: The reason I

          9  asked about the rubber room is that a large number

         10  of teachers have been in contact with me. They are

         11  rubber room, they call themselves patients. Their

         12  gripe is not being in the rubber room. It is

         13  remaining in the rubber room in some cases upwards

         14  of two years --

         15                 MS. GRISTEL: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: -- Without having

         17  any idea how long they are going to be there, when

         18  their charges are going to be heard, when they are

         19  going to have a chance to speak and they are just

         20  there indefinitely. They are teachers. They continue

         21  to get their salaries. They are very proud of what

         22  they do. They have been teaching in some cases for

         23  20, 25 years. They have been taken out of their

         24  classrooms that they have loved for so long and it

         25  is stripped all dignity from them.
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          2                 Now to the extent that the charges

          3  are valid, they should be in there. But there has

          4  got to be some kind of time frame that is better

          5  administered so that these teachers can either be

          6  found guilty and terminated or given the chance to

          7  speak about their own case, defend themselves and

          8  then return to the classroom. What's going on with

          9  these rubber rooms? That's the big question. I don't

         10  expect you to answer that today. Mr. Chairman, I

         11  think that is an issue that our Committee should

         12  examine at least at the staff level, if not through

         13  a full blown public hearing.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you. Let

         15  me just ask, Maria Colon, you indicated that you

         16  were a student. You graduated from JFK High School?

         17                 MS. COLON: Yes, very proud of it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You actually

         19  wanted to teach in the school you graduated from?

         20                 MS. COLON: Yes. I believe that we

         21  certainly have an obligation to our communities and

         22  we have to go back to them.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And you started

         24  as a teacher there when?

         25                 MS. COLON: In 1995. Actually, I was
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          2  at Evanderchild's first and then I asked and pleaded

          3  to be transferred to Kennedy High School.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You said that

          5  there were allegations of inflated scores on the

          6  January regents exams and you as a union

          7  representative, you were the union representative at

          8  the time. Is that correct?

          9                 MS. COLON: Yes, sir.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You brought

         11  those allegations forward appropriately?

         12                 MS. COLON: Yes, sir.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And the

         14  allegations were not dealt with, I'm summarizing,

         15  not dealt with by the Administration. So you and

         16  either your union or your colleagues filed a

         17  complaint with the State Education Department.

         18                 MS. COLON: That is correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Who referred it

         20  to the City Investigators. And in your statement you

         21  read that the City Investigators concluded and this

         22  is based on the New York Times columnist that the

         23  complaint was unsubstantiated even though you say

         24  here that the spokesman admitted that the City did

         25  not look into whether the charges or changes were
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          2  appropriate.

          3                 MS. COLON: Whether the changes were

          4  appropriate, sir. Yes, that is correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Was all what you

          6  were writing here, was this from the column in the

          7  New York Times or is this from your knowledge?

          8                 MS. COLON: This is from the portion

          9  of the New York Times, sir.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. I'm going

         11  to get a copy of that and look at that. If that is

         12  the case, I mean maybe the City Investigation

         13  Department needs to be investigated. Because if in

         14  fact and I was a former investigator myself; I

         15  investigated fraud for five years with the State of

         16  New York. If in fact the investigator said that the

         17  complaint was unsubstantiated and they did not look

         18  into whether or not the changes were appropriate or

         19  not, that individual should be fired in my opinion.

         20  Because they didn't do their job as an investigator.

         21                 I'm going to be looking into that.

         22  I'm telling you. I'm just reading this and listening

         23  to your testimony. I'm becoming enraged with it

         24  appears to be the incompetency or the cover up, one

         25  or the other, of the investigations that have
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          2  occurred in this particular matter. Then you say

          3  subsequently you feel as a result of you blowing the

          4  whistle or bringing forward the light of increasing

          5  score inappropriately, that they got rid of all of

          6  the bilingual teachers in that school?

          7                 MS. COLON: Most, most or many of the

          8  ESL and/or bilingual educators.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Which left --

         10                 MS. COLON: I listed 17, sir. But the

         11  school has an enormous population and was serving at

         12  the time 2000 students who were getting ESL

         13  bilingual services.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But you also

         15  wrote in here that subsequent to the excessing of

         16  all of these 17 bilingual or ESL teachers, students

         17  in need of ESL or bilingual teachers had to go other

         18  places outside of the school in order to get that.

         19  Is that what you are telling me?

         20                 MS. COLON: Yes, sir. Or they were

         21  told, they were sent -- they were given English only

         22  classes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Even though they

         24  may be legally entitled to --

         25                 MS. COLON: Yes, sir.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: -- ESL or

          3  bilingual teachers?

          4                 MS. COLON: Yes, sir.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Unbelievable.

          6  Now Gregg, are you still a teacher?

          7                 MR. LUNDAHL: Yes, I am.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And do you still

          9  teach at the same location?

         10                 MR. LUNDAHL: I do.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Are you sitting

         12  in the rubber room also?

         13                 MR. LUNDAHL: No.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: No, I'm very

         15  serious.

         16                 MR. LUNDAHL: No, but --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Are you sitting

         18  in the rubber room also?

         19                 MR. LUNDAHL: No.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You're not?

         21                 MR. LUNDAHL: But it is always

         22  difficult on a daily basis because I get cold

         23  shoulders. I have problems getting supplies

         24  sometimes and stuff like that. Walking through the

         25  halls today at Washington Irving High School, I went
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          2  past a girl who two and a half years ago was held

          3  down by some other girls and her face was scarred

          4  permanently for her entire life. That is a chilling

          5  thing  and that's the fault of somebody. We let her

          6  down.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: When you say we,

          8  who are you referring to?

          9                 MR. LUNDAHL: The Department of

         10  Education let her down. I'm proud of the fact that I

         11  said something when I went to Randi and I talked to

         12  her on the phone and I said, Randi, things are

         13  getting out of control here. She said I'm going to

         14  come in. She didn't ask me, was it a problem with

         15  the teachers. She didn't ask me about that. She knew

         16  that students were being hurt and we came in. I'm

         17  proud of that fact. But when you see a child go

         18  through the halls and their face will never be the

         19  same because of the policies of people in the past,

         20  then all of this stuff about whether or not this is

         21  going to cover for something else is in my mind

         22  trivial and frivolous. In reality, the fact of the

         23  matter is we need a law that allows people like me

         24  to stand up, it allows people like this person to

         25  stand up. Because these are outrageous wrongs and
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          2  they need to be reported and people shouldn't be

          3  afraid to do that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, Ms. Colon,

          5  you are a teacher, is that correct?

          6                 MS. COLON: Yes, I am.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is this your

          8  career of choice?

          9                 MS. COLON: Yes, this is my passion,

         10  sir.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And this is your

         12  career? You have been teaching for how long?

         13                 MS. COLON: I have been teaching for

         14  eleven and a half years, sir.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Eleven and a

         16  half years. Now, can you go outside now and if you

         17  wanted to and get a job somewhere else with the

         18  allegations against you realistically? Can you go

         19  out and get a job teaching somewhere else? If you

         20  wanted to quit, let's say, quit right now and try to

         21  go to West Chester County or Nassau County, more

         22  than likely with the allegations against you, would

         23  you be hired in your opinion?

         24                 MS. COLON: With all due respect, I

         25  wouldn't quit because New York City is certainly the
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          2  best place to teach. But if I would go outside, I

          3  would certainly have a difficult time and I feel I

          4  would not get employment at this time.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Because of the

          6  allegations against you?

          7                 MS. COLON: Yes, sir.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: If in fact,

          9  let's just assume the worst case scenario, let's

         10  assume through the 3020a proceeding you were

         11  terminated, would you be able to get a job in your

         12  career (you are a teacher), would you be able to get

         13  a job anywhere else, in your opinion?

         14                 MS. COLON: In my opinion, I think it

         15  would be difficult because I am already tainted,

         16  yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What I'm

         18  gathering is because of the allegations of wrong

         19  doing, your whole career could go down the drain as

         20  a result of what you feel is retaliation against you

         21  for bringing wrong doing on behalf of other

         22  individuals and the Department of Education?

         23                 MS. COLON: Yes, sir. And I would just

         24  like to remind the panel that obviously you will

         25  hear other testimony, but I'm not the only one, but
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          2  yes, sir.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You're not the

          4  only one?

          5                 MS. COLON: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me thank you

          7  on behalf of the Committee for coming in and giving

          8  your specific detailed situations about bringing

          9  forward allegations of wrong doing or misconduct or

         10  inappropriate behavior or the whole gamete and

         11  communicating what you feel to be retaliation

         12  against you for bringing forward those matters.

         13  Thank you very much both of you.

         14                 MS. COLON: Thank you.

         15                 MR. LUNDAHL: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes, Council

         17  Member. I'm sorry. Do you say something to this

         18  panel or just overall?

         19                 MS. ALVAREZ: Not this panel, but I'm

         20  looking around for the President of the UFT. Maybe

         21  she may be able to address the question. It comes

         22  back to the question of wrongful action and whether

         23  the union knows of the number of individuals who

         24  have been terminated following the procedures of the

         25  system and how many wrongful dismissal lawsuits have
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          2  been brought against the system and/or the City and

          3  how many have been won by the individuals who have

          4  filed them.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: As soon as she

          6  comes back, we will entertain that question. Can I

          7  go to the second panel and the second panel is Margo

          8  Donovan from P77 in District 75, Brooklyn; Alice

          9  Alcala from Brooklyn Technical High School, Brooklyn

         10  New York, and Jackie Bennett from Michael Petrides

         11  School on Staten Island. Would you please come

         12  forward? Thank you. You may begin, I guess in the

         13  order in which I called you.

         14                 MS. DONOVAN: My name is Margo Donovan

         15  and I have taught children with autism for 21 years.

         16  I have always been an advocate for children,

         17  especially children with special needs. This year

         18  the students at PS77 in District 75 Brooklyn have

         19  not been getting their services that they are

         20  mandated for. Some have been denied a speech

         21  teacher, others occupational and physical therapy.

         22  These are precious skills that these handicapped

         23  students need in order to become functional

         24  citizens.

         25                 But there are other decisions that
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          2  deny students services that are life- threatening.

          3  Last year, our assistant principal convinced the

          4  parent of an autistic student to agree to the

          5  removal of his one- on- one crisis paraprofessional.

          6  That para had been mandated in the child's

          7  Individual Educational Plan. When several staff

          8  members advised the assistant principal against

          9  doing this, she disregarded their advice.

         10                 This summer, that student, who is

         11  non- verbal, ran out of the school and crossed many

         12  busy streets in downtown Brooklyn. It took police

         13  and bloodhounds and helicopters to rescue the boy.

         14  The same thing happened again this fall, and the boy

         15  had to be found by police and staff members. Only

         16  then did the school administration reinstate his

         17  crisis paraprofessional.

         18                 The teaching staff is constantly

         19  blamed for things that go wrong. They are afraid to

         20  speak out. After I continued to protest school

         21  policies that hurt children, the assistant principal

         22  threatened me with a U rating, my first in 21 years

         23  of teaching. I was devastated. I never got that U,

         24  but the chilling effect of her threat came through

         25  loud and clear to me and to my colleagues. Because
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          2  of this harassment, I have decided to retire way

          3  before I wanted to. My final day with the kids was

          4  sadly, this Tuesday.

          5                 I am nervous because there are family

          6  members in the system and I am worried about

          7  repercussions against them. We do need very much

          8  this legislation to protect teachers who only want

          9  to protect their students.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         11  Before we ask any questions, we are going to hear

         12  from the rest of the panel members. Alice Alcala

         13  from Brooklyn Technical High School.

         14                 MS. ALCALA: My name is Alice Alcala.

         15  I have taught English in the New York City public

         16  school system for over 30 years. For ten years, from

         17  1993 to 2003, I worked at Brooklyn Technical High

         18  School under Dr. Lee McCaskill, the principal. The

         19  events that bring me before you today will show why

         20  teachers need a whistleblower law to protect them.

         21  Only with a whistleblower law will teachers be able

         22  to voice concerns that directly affect the education

         23  of their students without fear of retaliation. This

         24  is my story.

         25                 In the spring of 2001, Ms. Atkins-
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          2  Zoughlami became assistant principal of the English

          3  Department at Brooklyn Tech. Ms. Zoughlami

          4  intimidated anyone who questioned her decisions.

          5  Within a few months of her arrival, the huge English

          6  office, once filled with teachers and students was

          7  virtually deserted.

          8                 In October 2001, Ms. Zoughlami,

          9  excuse me, it was before that. It was in September

         10  2001, Ms. Zoughlami removed the mythology course, a

         11  pre- requisite for understanding Western Literature

         12  from the curriculum. When she refused to discuss

         13  this decision with the Department, I presented her

         14  and Dr. McCaskill with a petition signed by 19

         15  members of the English Department requesting a

         16  meeting to talk about the course's cancellation. She

         17  refused to discuss it. When we tried to raise it at

         18  a department meeting, she walked out.

         19                 The day after, Dr. McCaskill received

         20  the petition, I was summoned to his office where he

         21  accused me of disloyalty. Frankly, I was puzzled. I

         22  thought that going to him would alert him that the

         23  department needed him to help us work out our

         24  differences with Ms. Zoughlami. I thought that he

         25  would be grateful that I went to him for help.
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          2  Instead, he told me that I might just lose a program

          3  that I had spent years creating, a Shakespeare

          4  performance class called The Bard.

          5                 Students who had me in freshman year

          6  waited eagerly until they could take this class as

          7  seniors. We studied Shakespeare with theatre artists

          8  sent from the Brooklyn Academy of Music. Twice I was

          9  able to host the Royal National Theatre of Great

         10  Britain at Tech. The students were inspired by the

         11  theatre artists and in turn inspired younger

         12  students. The Judith Shakespeare's Company offered

         13  Saturday classes in stage combat, clowning,

         14  Shakespeare's language, voice and movement.

         15                 My students conducted Shakespeare

         16  workshops for freshmen. They put on plays and

         17  presentations. I wrote grants, worked during my prep

         18  periods, after school and weekends, organized visits

         19  and made sure that the theatre artists were paid. I

         20  willingly did this because it meant so much to my

         21  students. I never received any compensation for any

         22  of this extra work.

         23                 A few days later, the Bard program

         24  was cancelled. Dr. McCaskill justified his decision

         25  as due to lack of student interest. But it was
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          2  really in retaliation for writing the petition. I

          3  wrote a letter to the in- house union newsletter

          4  protesting the cancellation of the class. Dr.

          5  McCaskill came to my classroom on the day the

          6  newsletter came out and threatened me. He told me to

          7  watch my back. I wrote about this incident in the

          8  union in- house newsletter.

          9                 The valedictorian of the senior class

         10  who had studied two Shakespeare plays with me as a

         11  freshmen circulated a petition asking for the class

         12  to be reinstated in the spring. It was signed by 141

         13  students, enough for at least four classes. Dr.

         14  McCaskill denied the petition citing lack of student

         15  interest. Many teachers wrote letters to the in-

         16  house newspaper supporting the program. It was not

         17  offered in the spring, but surprisingly, the

         18  Administration agreed to reinstate it in the fall.

         19  This, I was to learn, would turn out to be another

         20  form of harassment.

         21                 When I was told that I had to write a

         22  curriculum for the class, I willingly agreed even

         23  though the format the Administration presented me

         24  with as a model was very complex. It took a lot of

         25  time to write, the entire summer and of course, I
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          2  was given no guidance and offered no compensation.

          3  Instead, I received e- mails from Ms. Zoughlami

          4  reminding me that the program would be cancelled if

          5  the curriculum was not completed. I was to learn

          6  that I had been set up by the Administration to

          7  spend my summer writing a curriculum for a course

          8  that they had no intention of offering. When I

          9  returned in September, I learned just how the plan

         10  worked.

         11                 I was to be given only one class. The

         12  other was to be given to a teacher who didn't want

         13  it. If the Administration did not give me her class,

         14  and if she refused to teach it, both classes would

         15  be changed into regular English classes. All the

         16  work I had done over the summer would have been for

         17  nothing. In September, events began to unfold as

         18  they had planned. In desperation, I appealed to

         19  someone higher up in the Department of Education.

         20  The next day, my program was changed so that I had

         21  both classes, but the harassment was not over.

         22                 Shortly, after I received a U rating

         23  on an observation and this was my first in all my 30

         24  something years of teaching. Ms. Zoughlami and Dr.

         25  McCaskill would appear without warning in my
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          2  classroom. I received another U rating for an

          3  observation. Worst of all is what was done to the

          4  students. The Bard students were not given

          5  permission to perform their final play, A Midsummer

          6  Night's Dream, the culmination of a year's work. The

          7  freshmen students were given permission to perform

          8  scenes and speeches from Julius Caesar, but were

          9  refused permission to have an audience to see them.

         10                 That year was hell. Even though I

         11  loved Brooklyn Tech, I couldn't wait to leave. I was

         12  lucky to get an administrative transfer to another

         13  school before I was given a U rating for the term. A

         14  U rating is serious because it is the first step in

         15  firing a teacher. I created Shakespeare program in

         16  my new school and we have put on performances of

         17  Midsummer, Taming of the Shrew, Hamlet and Macbeth.

         18                 Dr. McCaskill was forced to retire

         19  last month for reasons unrelated to his

         20  mismanagement and harassment of faculty. Ms.

         21  Zoughlami remains an assistant principle of the

         22  school. There has been no Shakespeare program at

         23  Brooklyn Tech since I left. No teacher should be

         24  harassed as I was for requesting a meeting about

         25  curriculum change. No students should be prevented
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          2  from presenting a terms work, as mine were, because

          3  I requested a meeting about curriculum change. For

          4  over 30 years, I had gotten along with all my

          5  administrators, even with Dr. McCaskill until I

          6  wrote the petition requesting a meeting about a

          7  curriculum change. This type of harassment can

          8  happen to anyone. I hope my story has shown you why

          9  all teachers need the whistleblowers law.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you for

         11  your testimony. Before we entertain any questions,

         12  we will hear from Jackie Bennett from Michael

         13  Petrides School on Staten Island.

         14                 MS. BENNETT: Yes, hello. I'm kind of

         15  a loud person.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: All right, let's

         17  hear you.

         18                 MS. BENNETT: My name is Jackie

         19  Bennett and I have been a high school English

         20  teacher in New York for 18 years. In 1998, when I

         21  moved from Lincoln High School to a K to 12 school

         22  on Staten Island, I didn't even know that I owned a

         23  whistle. At Lincoln, the administration respected

         24  the professional opinion of staff and they sought

         25  our input. But Petrides was something else. Raising
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          2  one's hand at a faculty meeting made one suspect and

          3  challenging the principal's policies was tantamount

          4  to professional suicide.

          5                 To work in this school meant to work

          6  without a voice. And this was made very clear to me

          7  in the month that I arrived. That September, I was

          8  called down to the principal's office to defend

          9  myself for planning to buy a copy machine with other

         10  teachers by pooling Teachers' Choice money. That is

         11  a very common practice in a lot of schools, but

         12  bizarrely, the principal told me that such a

         13  purchase was a union activity and that union

         14  activity had no place in his school. I was stunned.

         15  I had not attended a single union meeting during my

         16  ten years at Lincoln and yet here I was an activist

         17  because I wanted to copy a couple of poems.

         18                 But I was also scared. I had been in

         19  the system long enough to know how vulnerable

         20  teachers can be, tenure or no tenure, when they

         21  cross their principals. Nevertheless, things about

         22  the school began to trouble me and I could not

         23  remain silent in the face of policies that seemed

         24  detrimental to our kids. In order to speak more

         25  effectively, I became a school union leader. Dozens
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          2  of my questions and my principals answers are

          3  documented in meeting minutes, most of which bear

          4  his signature, as well as mine.

          5                 For example, the principal found

          6  money in our budget for a two- day retreat for

          7  teachers at a cost of $40 to $60,000, some of which

          8  went to a university that also hired him to teach.

          9  Many of our teachers would have preferred to see

         10  that money spent in the classroom for our kids.

         11  There was the overtime budget. One year, 40 percent

         12  of it went to administration, much of it to the

         13  principal. At the same time that we were funding

         14  this overtime, the school -- I'm sorry, and at the

         15  same time that we were funding that overtime, the

         16  school sometimes neglected to hire substitute staff

         17  to provide mandated services for special ed children

         18  when the regular staff was absent. Most of my

         19  questions and my answers from him were not about

         20  money.

         21                 I want to just go off of my copy for

         22  a half second because people ask about policies that

         23  fall below the level of legal and maybe money

         24  questions sound legal. Just very briefly, we had

         25  something in my school called the multi- age program
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          2  that was instituted against the wishes of every

          3  teacher. I'm in a K- 12 and this was in our first

          4  and fourth grade. First and second graders were

          5  randomly blended and three and fourth graders were

          6  randomly blended. That went that a struggling first

          7  was in with the high functioning second. The ranges

          8  are enormous.

          9                 By doing that in third and fourth

         10  grade, the principal believed he was able to raise

         11  the class size. So this was a way of putting third

         12  graders in larger classes. I fought it tooth and

         13  nail, and I fought it loudly and much of the

         14  retaliation had to do with that. I don't want you

         15  think it was just questions of conflict of interest.

         16  Anyway, there were many, many policies. They were

         17  all important to the welfare of our children.

         18                 The principal tried very hard to stop

         19  me from asking these questions. The principal tried

         20  to shut me up. Excuse me. He had available to him --

         21  I'm sorry. I never cry.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: It is all right.

         23  Sometimes crying is good. It relieves the pressure

         24  that someone is receiving.

         25                 MS. BENNETT: I never cry. It is just
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          2  so awful. I'm okay. He had available to him all the

          3  usual instruments of power. The letters in my file,

          4  the public humiliation, the docking of my pay by

          5  $600 for failing to fill out a form. In the space of

          6  four years, I found myself the target of verbal

          7  abuse allegations four times, even though I had

          8  never been the target of such an allegation before

          9  and I have not been once since.

         10                 I hesitate obviously to speak of

         11  these things. The charges were untrue, but they were

         12  also humiliating and that was the point. The point

         13  was to get blood on me, to try to silence me and the

         14  more important to silence not just me, it's never

         15  about just the whistleblower, it was about my

         16  colleagues who could not speak to their parents

         17  about the multi- age program when they saw what was

         18  happening to me. Who was going to dare to say a

         19  word?

         20                 The principal is no longer at the

         21  Petrides. He has gone off incredibly to be a

         22  superintendent in New Jersey somewhere. These days,

         23  I work for a very fine principal who encourages her

         24  staff to speak openly. But there are one million

         25  children in New York City schools and plenty of
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          2  these children go to schools with principals like

          3  the one I used to have. These children need teachers

          4  who can speak freely to parents and to the public

          5  and without fear. I ask you very strongly to protect

          6  our children by protecting the voices of the people

          7  who care for them in schools every single day.

          8  Please, pass this legislation. Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me just say,

         10  I want to thank all three of you for the willingness

         11  to come forward and to talk about the stories that

         12  you have regarding the problems and retaliations

         13  that you have received from the Administration of

         14  your various schools. And hearing the emotions and

         15  all three of you, your voices and your bodies and

         16  shedding tears, I guess this shows me how painful it

         17  is to live through some of this stuff. Are you,

         18  Margo, you said you retired, today is Thursday, so

         19  two days ago you retired?

         20                 MS. DONOVAN: Yes, I did.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: After how many

         22  years as a teacher?

         23                 MS. DONOVAN: Twenty- one years for

         24  the Department of Education, 15 years with York

         25  College and various programs.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I believe you

          3  said in your testimony, had it not been for all of

          4  this situation and retaliation that you have been

          5  receiving you would not have retired?

          6                 MS. DONOVAN: I would not have

          7  retired. I love teaching. It's my life. Thirty- six

          8  years altogether. I would have continued.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But you folded

         10  due to the pressures that you say you were receiving

         11  from the Administration in retaliation. Is that

         12  correct?

         13                 MS. DONOVAN: Yes, it was retaliation

         14  for speaking out and saying how I felt about their

         15  policies. Not having a voice even, not being asked

         16  how new programs are, how is working, do you need

         17  any help, what does your child need, is he getting

         18  the services that he needs, that he is entitled too.

         19  If I were to speak up, there was only anger. I just

         20  felt like we weren't working cooperatively. The kids

         21  have to be our main interest and when I felt that

         22  the kids weren't the main interest, it was very hard

         23  every day to go to work.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You said that

         25  the individual that you were referring to had their
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          2  IEP had been changed or the one to one that that

          3  individual had or was taken away as a result of, I

          4  guess a decision by the assistant principal, of that

          5  school that was involved in that program. As a

          6  result, my opinion was or my conclusion was as a

          7  result of the withdrawing of the one on one, this

          8  student twice during a course of a spring semester

          9  and the fall semester ran out of the school, had to

         10  be tracked down by police or staff or whatever. Is

         11  that correct?

         12                 MS. DONOVAN: That is correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How long in that

         14  school did that individual have one to one? Did the

         15  individual ever run out of the building or escape,

         16  not escape like he was in prison, no. I'm so sorry.

         17  Did the individual ever run out of the school when

         18  they had one to one?

         19                 MS. DONOVAN: The reason that he got a

         20  one to one, I believe, is he was at the elementary

         21  site before he came here and because he was what

         22  they call a runner --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: A runner.

         24                 MS. DONOVAN: -- He was given a one to

         25  one paraprofessional.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          3                 MS. DONOVAN: Then he was graduated

          4  and came to the main site where it is much larger

          5  with many more children with autism and it was

          6  really not a very good time to take away his one to

          7  one paraprofessional.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: During the one

          9  to one, did that runner ever run?

         10                 MS. DONOVAN: Do you know something? I

         11  really don't know if he ever did or not.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. But you do

         13  know that when that individual did not have a one to

         14  one, that individual ran twice and had to be

         15  searched for once by police and helicopters and

         16  subsequently the second time by staff and other

         17  people from the school?

         18                 MS. DONOVAN: That's correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You believe that

         20  taking away the one to one which was part of that

         21  individual's IEP was the result of him running away

         22  because basically what I'm understanding you felt

         23  that if that individual had the one to one, that

         24  individual could not run because the staff member

         25  would be assigned to that individual. Is that
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          2  correct?

          3                 MS. DONOVAN: There would be much less

          4  of a chance of getting him away if there was a one

          5  to one with him all the time.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Was that

          7  individual's one to one subsequently reinstated?

          8                 MS. DONOVAN: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: It was?

         10                 MS. DONOVAN: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: After the second

         12  run?

         13                 MS. DONOVAN: After the second run.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Alice, are you

         15  still a teacher at Brooklyn Tech High School?

         16                 MS. ALCALA: No, I was able to --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Can you pull the

         18  mic up closer up?

         19                 MS. ALCALA: No, I am not. I was able

         20  to get out of there. Another principal who was

         21  actually a colleague of mine in the school I am in

         22  now had become the principal and I went in for an

         23  interview and she recognized me immediately and she

         24  said, you are a good teacher.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So you are there
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          2  now?

          3                 MS. ALCALA: I am there now. She took

          4  me.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Were you a union

          6  representative at Brooklyn Tech High School?

          7                 MS. ALCALA: No, I became a

          8  spokesperson for the Department, not the only

          9  spokesperson, but I spoke up a lot.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: In the English

         11  department?

         12                 MS. ALCALA: In the English

         13  department. There was another teacher also who was

         14  incredibly harassed.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So you were not

         16  a union representative, you were a normal teacher.

         17                 MS. ALCALA: I was a teacher. I was a

         18  teacher.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Who was speaking

         20  up?

         21                 MS. ALCALA: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You said in your

         23  testimony, I believe, you said there were 17 or 19

         24  individuals from the English department that signed

         25  a letter.
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          2                 MS. ALCALA: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How many other

          4  staff members were there? Nineteen or 17 out of how

          5  many? 50? 20?

          6                 MS. ALCALA: Well, the English

          7  department in Brooklyn Tech includes the Music

          8  department and it includes the library. I'm not sure

          9  how many of those are English teachers, but at 19

         10  are a lot of teachers.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Was that the

         12  majority of all the English teachers?

         13                 MS. ALCALA: It was more than half.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: More than half?

         15                 MS. ALCALA: More than half.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That signed?

         17                 MS. ALCALA: That signed the letter.

         18  They did it very respectfully. Some said we don't

         19  really have -- we know our colleagues are concerned,

         20  so we would like to have a meeting with you. We

         21  thanked her for her hard work. We understood that

         22  she was new. But we wanted to talk to her.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me go back

         24  to Margo. Were you a union representative at PS77?

         25                 MS. DONOVAN: No, I was not.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You were just a

          3  teacher? Not just a teacher, but you were a teacher.

          4                 MS. DONOVAN: That's okay. I like

          5  being just a teacher.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You were a

          7  teacher?

          8                 MS. DONOVAN: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Jackie, you said

         10  that you had transferred from Lincoln High School, I

         11  understand. How long were you teaching there?

         12                 MS. BENNETT: I was there for ten

         13  years.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And you

         15  transferred to the Michael Petrides School which is

         16  a K- 12 school.

         17                 MS. BENNETT: K- 12.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Why did you

         19  transfer there if I may ask if you don't mind

         20  telling me?

         21                 MS. BENNETT: No particular --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Were you in

         23  trouble at the other school --

         24                 MS. BENNETT: Oh, no.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: -- That's why
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          2  you transferred out?

          3                 MS. BENNETT: Oh, no, not at all. You

          4  get a career and as somebody pointed out today when

          5  you were talking about, there is no promotion in

          6  teaching. We don't get promotion. A lot of teachers

          7  like a change after a few years. After ten years, I

          8  was just ready for a new school. I wanted a new

          9  environment. I loved it there. That school, I don't

         10  know anything about it now, I leave the past behind

         11  just like I left Michael Petrides behind, I hope.

         12  When I was there, it was just a wonderfully run

         13  school with Jack Pollack (phonetic) was the

         14  principal and a great school with a great

         15  administration that wanted intellectual leaders in

         16  their classes. Professionals would be upset if you

         17  didn't speak out or speak up or offer input.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So it was a

         19  collaborative type situation?

         20                 MS. BENNETT: Oh, absolutely.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Are you still

         22  teaching at Michael Petrides?

         23                 MS. BENNETT: Yes, I am.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How long have

         25  you been there now?
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          2                 MS. BENNETT: I think this is my

          3  eighth year there now.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: The eighth year.

          5  Are you the union chapter leader there?

          6                 MS. BENNETT: Well, yes. After I had

          7  been getting beaten up for two or three years, I

          8  thought to myself that maybe this is a way that

          9  somehow I can -- it was a combination the fact that

         10  I was being beaten up and also that there was so

         11  many things that seemed so wrong in that school for

         12  the kids. We felt it was down the rabbit hole. I

         13  said the only real way that I can fight effectively

         14  or advocate effectively for these children in this

         15  school is maybe the union is a position because the

         16  principal needs to meet with you once a month and

         17  discuss issues and things like that. It was simply a

         18  way to advocate.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How long have

         20  you been the union representative at that school?

         21                 MS. BENNETT: Five years now.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But the first

         23  three years, you were not --

         24                 MS. BENNETT: First two.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I think you
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          2  stated in your testimony that you had been teaching

          3  at Lincoln High School for ten years --

          4                 MS. BENNETT: Ten years.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: -- Prior to

          6  that. And that you had never attended a union

          7  meeting before.

          8                 MS. BENNETT: No, I really didn't. I

          9  remember one time they said, why don't you -- they

         10  used to yell at me. I don't know. I wasn't in the

         11  pocket of the administration or something because

         12  that's what happens at the union meetings. No, we

         13  didn't need to go to the union meetings. There was

         14  no issues. It was a respectful relation. That

         15  happens in schools when you have a great

         16  relationship with your principal.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm concluding

         18  based on your testimony of what you have said is

         19  that because of what you perceive to be situations

         20  at the new school that were not conducive to the

         21  type of input that you were used to having or it --

         22                 MS. BENNETT: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: -- It was sort

         24  of like a dictatorship, would be my words, not

         25  yours, that you felt that the only way that you can
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          2  try to advocate without being --

          3                 MS. BENNETT: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: -- Not without

          5  being, but the union was a way to advocate for your

          6  rights and the rights of other employees.

          7                 MS. BENNETT: I think actually it was

          8  more about the rights of the kids in the class.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: The kids in the

         10  class.

         11                 MS. BENNETT: I wasn't going to use

         12  the word rights. There were things going on with

         13  grading policies. People were talking today about

         14  regents grades, but we had an advance placement

         15  policy where any child could get in was guaranteed

         16  an 80 with a ten percent curve or you had to fail

         17  them. Now I know you guys aren't educators, but you

         18  are in an untenable position as the teacher. The

         19  students in the class didn't want it. The principal

         20  wants the grades up for whatever reason. It was just

         21  horrendous and so those were the kinds of things.

         22                 You would go home and say this is not

         23  an appropriate policy for my children. The multi-

         24  age problem was enormous. It would eat you up

         25  because you say, I have third graders in classes
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          2  with four graders who are at the top and I have

          3  struggling third. Try to teach that and the class is

          4  at the maximum for fourth graders even though they

          5  are third graders. Fought it tooth and nail. Letters

          6  to Chancellor Klein. It didn't matter. I was the

          7  chapter leader. Nobody was going to pay attention to

          8  me.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Even though

         10  there were two grades --

         11                 MS. BENNETT: Mr. Klein wasn't going

         12  to do anything because I was asking.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Even though

         14  there were the combined class of three/four and

         15  there were literally two grades, from the practical

         16  point of view, there may have been four years apart.

         17                 MS. BENNETT: Yes, it was pedagogy

         18  impossible. Pedagogy impossible. Every one of my

         19  teachers, I'm going to say 11 out of 12 of my

         20  teachers are on those levels. One teacher said I'm

         21  willing to try anything. That is a good as we got.

         22  For two years, we were just extremely upset and I

         23  would say, well when the parent asks you at open

         24  school night, the parent will say what do you think

         25  of multi- age. What do you say? They say, oh my god,
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          2  what do you think? How can I possibly speak to the

          3  parents about I feel about this program? I mean,

          4  Jackie, look at your record in the school. He is

          5  trying to destroy you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Were you telling

          7  the truth to the parents or you were not the telling

          8  the truth?

          9                 MS. BENNETT: Oh, we were telling the

         10  truth through me.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Through you?

         12                 MS. BENNETT: Through me. A letter

         13  went out to my staff that went to my leadership team

         14  that went to Klein, I probably have it with me,

         15  outlining the real pedagogy problems with the

         16  program; the way that we were trying to fight it and

         17  the way that the Board of Education continued to

         18  defend that program. But we kept fighting. They

         19  fought through me. Now if we had gotten the parents,

         20  some people here have been able to speak more openly

         21  to their parents, we couldn't. But if we had been

         22  able to speak more openly to parents, those programs

         23  would have changed.

         24                 But because there was so much blood

         25  on me, you could kind of just keep me off my balance
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          2  constantly. Constantly trying to punch me and hit

          3  me, then how was anyone else going to speak to

          4  parents. So it is like, well is it just that chapter

          5  leader. Is she just trying to raise problems with

          6  the principal or is this really an issue in the

          7  class. The wall of silence from mostly untenured

          8  teachers, I think almost all of my teachers on those

          9  levels were on untenured at that point, the wall of

         10  silence, it was a nightmare. I don't know what else

         11  to say.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, I want to

         13  personally thank you on behalf of the Committee for

         14  coming in and giving testimony.

         15                 MS. BENNETT: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Even though

         17  other members of the Committee are not here, we are

         18  going to make sure that all of them receive your

         19  testimony so that they have an opportunity to read

         20  your stories.

         21                 MS. BENNETT: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you all

         23  for coming in. We have another panel, if you don't

         24  mind, of Amelia Arcamone, please come forward and

         25  Betsy Combier, please come forward. I apologize
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          2  everyone for running late. I believe we had

          3  scheduled three hours. It is now 6:00, but this is

          4  the last panel and we may hear from the Vice

          5  President of UFT for Special Education. Please, Ms.

          6  Arcamone.

          7                 MS. ARCAMONE: My name is Ms. Amelia

          8  Arcamone.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Arcamone,

         10  please.

         11                 MS. ARCAMONE: I have been a teacher

         12  for 17 years. I live in Manhattan. Before teaching,

         13  I pursued a career in journalism and I worked at the

         14  New York Post. While working full- time there, I

         15  completed my requirements for an MS in secondary

         16  English education and I worked part- time as a New

         17  York City substitute teacher. I was shocked by the

         18  things I saw. I saw students who had to dust off

         19  bits of classroom ceiling that sprinkled on their

         20  shoulders as they worked. In cold classrooms, I saw

         21  my students breath smoke. There were outdated books.

         22  No working computers and a computer lab. There was a

         23  school that began the school year two weeks late.

         24  There was overcrowded special ed classes and there

         25  were other conditions that are all too familiar to
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          2  New York City teachers to this day.

          3                 In 1987, I worked with my editors and

          4  we published a six- part series based on my

          5  observations in five boroughs and 13 schools. The

          6  series was called in 1987, Blackboard Bungle. The

          7  series won the acclaim of U.S. Senator William

          8  Bennett and Congressman Mario Biaggi. Shortly after,

          9  we unearthed a secret memo from then the Board of

         10  Education, the Department for Substitute Teachers

         11  and the memo said, Amelia Arcamone- do not send

         12  anywhere. Naturally, we published the memo.

         13                 When I left the post in 1988, to work

         14  full- time as a teacher, I was not allowed back into

         15  the classroom. I was only able to teach because the

         16  City Council Member Herb Berman who was the

         17  Chairperson of the English Committee, he came to my

         18  rescue. I strongly believe if it wasn't for him, I

         19  would never be allowed back into the classroom. His

         20  advice to me was now you are teacher, you are not a

         21  reporter, be a good teacher. I followed his advice

         22  and I focused on improving the school from within. I

         23  joined every committee. The school safety committee,

         24  I was a chapter leader, I was a delegate, I belonged

         25  to the accreditation committee.
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          2                 Then at about 1993, I started to see

          3  something happening at the school where I was

          4  working at LD Brandeis High School in Manhattan that

          5  was completely over the edge. The computer

          6  coordinator was able to develop a computer software

          7  where he was able to manipulate attendance records

          8  where the students records were changed from absent

          9  to late. With this, the doors had opened to phantom

         10  students and phantom classes. For the sake of

         11  illegally obtaining additional school funding, it

         12  became anything goes. When I distributed report

         13  cards and program cards, I could see the pattern.

         14  Students whom I never saw were assigned to phantom

         15  classes in small offices including the principal's

         16  office. The hallways were flooded with students who

         17  did show up, but they had no place to go. In one

         18  year, there were four riots.

         19                 I understood what was happening, but

         20  I had no place to go to report this. First, I went

         21  to our assistant principal. His response was that I

         22  no longer had to sign off on the attendance records.

         23  I sent a package of relevant documents to the

         24  Special Commissioner of Investigation and I waited.

         25  Nothing happen. That's because I sent to the package
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          2  anonymously. Conditions were worsening. Due to the

          3  riots, students were not allowed into the school

          4  building. Every morning the pleaded to be allowed

          5  into the school. Also, they were not transferred to

          6  other schools. By the way, LD Brandeis was a title

          7  one school and it served poverty and minority

          8  students who were in great need of a good education.

          9                 As a last resort, I contacted the

         10  Post. Finally, a series of articles on phantom

         11  students was published from December 1997 on. There

         12  was one by Maria Alvarez, Karl Kappenily (phonetic)

         13  and Sue Uddeman (phonetic). I gave testimony and

         14  documents to the SCI's Larry Kindericks and grand

         15  illusion was published by that office at about 1999

         16  which was a record of the attendance manipulations

         17  at LD Brandeis High School.

         18                 Then came the retributions which I

         19  had expected. I was harassed. If I took notes during

         20  a school meeting, I was accused of spying. I

         21  received my one and only letter in the file. I went

         22  to back to the SCI, Larry Kindericks and I asked him

         23  to help me. He said there was no way he could help

         24  me because there was no law available at that time.

         25  Hopefully, with this hearing that will change. The
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          2  level did not reach a criminal level. Maybe that is

          3  why I could get no protection. It just fascinating

          4  to see what a school can do before it reaches the

          5  criminal level.

          6                 I just asked that you do consider

          7  this legislation and protect us. I feel that those

          8  who work closely with the students are the eyes and

          9  the ears of the decision makers and if you protect

         10  us, you are protecting the truth. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         12  Before we entertain any questions, we will hear from

         13  the other witness, Betsy Combier.

         14                 MS. COMBIER: Good evening. I'm not

         15  actually a teacher, but I'm advocate for teachers

         16  here in New York City. I have seen as a reporter as

         17  well, the most atrocious retaliation I have ever

         18  seen anywhere. On the part of the Board of

         19  Education, I have seen what I call an arrogance of

         20  immunity. Michael Best just sent me a letter

         21  yesterday saying that I could not help any students

         22  in the suspension office because only their people

         23  could pick anybody the good help. As we spoke about

         24  a day or two ago in the suspension office, anybody

         25  that speaks up for these kids are being retaliated
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          2  against.

          3                 But back to teachers, over the last

          4  seven years, I have been working in the field, in

          5  schools because I was a PTA president of a school

          6  and I noticed that special education children were

          7  not getting their services and I wrote a grievance

          8  and then the next thing I know my daughter was

          9  dragged through the yard of the school and came home

         10  bleeding. My other daughters IEP was ripped up,

         11  thrown in the garbage and decertified and given no

         12  of her benefits and confused and lost, she ended up

         13  in the street begging for pennies in Union Square

         14  for four months.

         15                 I decided that something had to be

         16  done and as I'm a reporter and I can talk to people

         17  and have people talk to me and luckily, I have some

         18  of my own money, so I have paid for my efforts to

         19  help teachers for the last five years out of my

         20  pocket. What has to happen is that these teachers

         21  are dedicated to their children. It is no longer a

         22  good teacher that the Board of Ed wants in their

         23  schools. It is a silent teacher. We, parents, want

         24  our teachers to be able to relate to our students.

         25  You will find that if a student becomes friendly
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          2  with the teacher, all of a sudden they are gone.

          3  Because probably a teacher has said something and I

          4  bring up the case of the teacher in Rikers Island

          5  who became unduly familiar, I think was the term,

          6  with the students in Rikers Island and was suddenly

          7  put in a rubber room.

          8                 I've been to the rubber rooms. I know

          9  a lot of teachers in the rubber rooms. Why are they

         10  there? Due process has no place now in New York

         11  City. I am so happy that your Committee, Mr.

         12  Jackson, has lawyers on it because what is going on

         13  right now in New York City needs every single one of

         14  us to become advocates, lawyers and see what is

         15  happening to silence everybody. Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I want to thank

         17  both of you for coming in. Amelia, Ms. Arcamone, are

         18  you still a teacher in the system?

         19                 MS. ARCAMONE: Yes, I'm still a

         20  teacher in the system. But I had to transfer out of

         21  Brandeis and I am in a different school.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Are you talking

         23  about the Brandeis High School in upper west side.

         24  Is that correct?

         25                 MS. ARCAMONE: That's the one.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: When did you

          3  transfer out of there?

          4                 MS. ARCAMONE: About two years after

          5  the report came out.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: When did the

          7  report come out?

          8                 MS. ARCAMONE: About 1999.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You transferred

         10  out of there approximately 2001?

         11                 MS. ARCAMONE: Correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How long were

         13  you at that school?

         14                 MS. ARCAMONE: About nine years.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Nine years. You

         16  transferred out because in essence you reported

         17  allegations of wrong doing?

         18                 MS. ARCAMONE: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Not necessarily

         20  criminally wrong doing, but wrong doings and they

         21  may have been criminal anytime you change the

         22  records, it reflects someone is late when they are

         23  absent, that is fraud.

         24                 MS. ARCAMONE: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Because you are
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          2  defrauding the State out of money. The State gets

          3  money based on attendance.

          4                 MS. ARCAMONE: Correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That's

          6  committing a fraud. You would agree with that,

          7  right?

          8                 MS. ARCAMONE: Yes, I do. Also, City

          9  funds were taken away from the honest schools who

         10  were reporting their attendance correctly.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: As a result of

         12  that report that came out in the Post, you felt that

         13  you were retaliated against and as a result of the

         14  pressure of retaliation, you basically are

         15  communicating to us, you transferred out of there.

         16                 MS. ARCAMONE: Most definitely.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You transferred

         18  out of the fire?

         19                 MS. ARCAMONE: That's right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is that correct?

         21                 MS. ARCAMONE: Correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That's my

         23  summary.

         24                 MS. ARCAMONE: Yes, it became

         25  unbearable, so I left.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: It became

          3  unbearable. Were you at the time at Brandeis, were

          4  you the chapter chair of that particular school?

          5                 MS. ARCAMONE: I was the chapter chair

          6  and while I was the chapter chair, I realized that

          7  we had shorten programs that were purposely

          8  oversized and when I brought that grievance to step

          9  three, that's when the retributions started and

         10  basically that's it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How are you

         12  doing at your new school?

         13                 MS. ARCAMONE: Very well, thank you.

         14  It's over crowded terribly and it is hard to get a

         15  copy, as you know, of the school budget. Last time I

         16  saw the school budget, I noticed that schools that

         17  are over utilized get additional funding. There is a

         18  grant for over utilized schools. You may want to

         19  look into that because we also have under utilized

         20  schools. I'm wondering if that's over crowding

         21  conditions are being manipulated for the purpose of

         22  an additional funding.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Ms. Combier, is

         24  that correct?

         25                 MS. COMBIER: Combier.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me thank

          3  you. We have spoken before and your advocacy on

          4  behalf of students. You communicated to me on many

          5  times and I think you have expressed a situation

          6  where you, I guess, have spoken out and you feel

          7  that actions were taken against your children.

          8                 MS. COMBIER: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is that correct?

         10  Your children who were in the system as a result of

         11  your advocacy.

         12                 MS. COMBIER: Yes. In one case, there

         13  was a teacher that was helping me as well and he was

         14  put on the computer as never being able to be hired

         15  again without any explanation. He was fired.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Because of

         17  assisting you and advocating for the rights of

         18  students or the rights of teachers?

         19                 MS. COMBIER: Yes. I also might want

         20  to bring up --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You were a

         22  teacher at one point in time?

         23                 MS. COMBIER: I teach writing

         24  actually, but not for the Department of Education.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Were you a
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          2  teacher at the Board of Ed --

          3                 MS. COMBIER: No.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: -- At any time?

          5                 MS. COMBIER: No.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But you were a

          7  teacher and I think you said, you were a reporter.

          8  Are you an attorney?

          9                 MS. COMBIER: No, I'm a paralegal.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Paralegal. So

         11  you are an advocate?

         12                 MS. COMBIER: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: As an advocate,

         14  as a paralegal, you are entitled to represent

         15  students in suspension hearings. Is that correct?

         16                 MS. COMBIER: Yes, yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         18                 MS. COMBIER: As an advocate. Mr.

         19  Jackson?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes, ma'am.

         21                 MS. COMBIER: I just want to bring up

         22  one point you brought in earlier today,

         23  investigations. There are none. There are no

         24  investigations.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What you do

                                                            145

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  mean? They don't do investigations?

          3                 MS. COMBIER: A teacher is given a U

          4  rating for an opinion and an assistant principal or

          5  principal comes into the classroom most often. Now

          6  it is happening as they surprise the teacher, maybe

          7  ten times in a month or on a day when they are not

          8  suppose to be there and they come in and their

          9  opinion creates a U rating or their observation

         10  becomes a U rating. Then they use this to terminate

         11  a teacher. But the facts, I've read U ratings. I've

         12  read observation reports. What they observe isn't

         13  always what happened and that's what is happening

         14  and the teachers can't fight back.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You mean to tell

         16  me they make up stuff?

         17                 MS. COMBIER: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is that what you

         19  are saying?

         20                 MS. COMBIER: Yes, they make up stuff

         21  all the time. I have been to 3020a hearings. I've

         22  gone to hearings. I've been at the Department of

         23  Special Investigations and for some reasons,

         24  sometimes the investigators think that I'm on their

         25  side and they laugh and joke with me that they don't
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          2  have to look at this, they don't have to look at

          3  that and they confide in me when obviously I'm

          4  interested in due process. I'm interested if a

          5  teacher or anybody does something bad, that of

          6  course they should be held accountable for that. But

          7  to make up things and then create a situation where

          8  there is no investigation at all is wrong.

          9                 I might have you also look at or

         10  somebody on your staff go to the municipal library

         11  and look up the Gill Commission. It is 193 pages and

         12  it is fascinating because in the more than ten years

         13  since it was written, I don't think anything has

         14  changed at all. Computers are still hidden in the

         15  closets. But there is also an accompanying study

         16  that is 89 pages long called Investigating the

         17  Investigators. It is fascinating at how the Board of

         18  Education continues to cover up the wrong doing of

         19  administrators that are simple moved from maybe one

         20  region to another, one school to another and not

         21  held accountable for their actions. It's happening

         22  exactly like it did before.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Council Member

         24  Fidler.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Chairman. Ms. Arcamone, if I may, what school are

          3  you teaching at now?

          4                 MS. ARCAMONE: Forest Hills High

          5  School in Queens.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I asked that

          7  only because I'm the Council Member who sits as the

          8  successor to Herb Berman. I speak to him almost on a

          9  daily basis and I'm sure he would be pleased to know

         10  that you are still in the system and teaching and

         11  that he had something to do with it. I'm sure he

         12  will be very proud of that, as he should be.

         13                 MS. ARCAMONE: Thank you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Mr. Chairman,

         15  it occurs to me listening to much of the testimony

         16  today that the issue of the rubber room and due

         17  process, while it is certainly tangentially related

         18  to the whistleblower bill before us really has a

         19  whole independent set of issues and concerns. For

         20  teachers that are sitting in the rubber rooms

         21  falsely accused, every day that they are there is

         22  justice delayed. For teachers that are sitting in

         23  the rubber rooms properly accused and properly

         24  awaiting appropriate discipline, tax payer's money

         25  is being wasted while they sit there and I assume do
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          2  nothing. They certainly aren't teaching our kids in

          3  the rubber rooms.

          4                 I would ask at the appropriate time

          5  this Committee called DOE here and get some facts,

          6  get some figures. Is this happening because there

          7  aren't enough investigators? Is this happening

          8  because due process demands delay? I don't think two

          9  years is an appropriate period of time. That sounds

         10  extraordinary long. How long is it taking for these

         11  hearings to take place and if they are being unduly

         12  delayed, why?

         13                 Maybe this is an area  where we can

         14  force an additional expenditure that would save tax

         15  payor's money both by putting teachers that should

         16  be in the classroom back in the classroom and by

         17  eliminating teachers who are in the rubber room who

         18  shouldn't be being paid. This may be a dollar spent

         19  that would save ten. And I would hope that this

         20  Committee can take that question up because it is

         21  clearly apparent, especially to me as a new member

         22  of this Committee, that it is an issue that needs to

         23  be looked at.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         25  Council Member Del Carmen Arroyo from the Bronx.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chair. I have another engagement that I have to get

          4  to at 7:00, so I wanted to get a couple of questions

          5  into the record that we can maybe get some answers.

          6  It's going to follow in the line of Council Member

          7  Fidler's comments.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Please go

          9  right ahead.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: I restate the

         11  question, do we know how many wrong dismissal cases

         12  have been brought against the system, the Department

         13  of Education, Board of Education and how many of

         14  those cases have been won and what has been the

         15  award, total dollar awarded to those individuals who

         16  won those cases? Along the same lines, do we know

         17  how many teachers are in this infamous rubber room

         18  that got there as a result of a whistleblowing

         19  incident, for lack of a better term, the number of

         20  hours lost for those teachers, classroom time, and

         21  the cost of that to the system.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Ladies, I want
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          2  to thank you both for coming in and giving

          3  testimony. I'm sorry we are running a little late.

          4  This was scheduled to go to 6:00. But quite frankly,

          5  the questions that I pose and wanted to raise had to

          6  come out. I think that it is extremely important

          7  that that happened. Our last witness for this

          8  hearing is Carmen Alvarez, the Vice President of

          9  Special Education for UFT.

         10                 MS. ALVAREZ: Thank you, Councilman

         11  Jackson.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you for

         13  allowing the other panels to go in front of you. I

         14  think it was important that they be heard and I

         15  promise you and everyone here that their

         16  testimonies, written testimonies, will be made

         17  available to every member.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I want to

         19  apologize both to the witness and to the Chairman

         20  for leaving him here alone, but I to have an

         21  engagement in Brooklyn which is at least an hour

         22  away in the rain, and the snow and the sleet. But I

         23  will read your testimony.

         24                 MS. ALVAREZ: Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you,
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          2  Council Member.

          3                 MS. ALVAREZ: I know in my own

          4  meetings, everybody just loves to hear somebody say

          5  call the question. But I'm not going to call the

          6  question just quite yet. I think what I would just

          7  like to reiterate, is you can hear, I could have not

          8  expressed as articulately as my colleagues, the

          9  experiences that they have gone through and continue

         10  to go through.

         11                 As you can see, it's not just a

         12  figure of speech. The fear factor is powerful out

         13  there. And I wish I could say it was the exception,

         14  but it now has become the norm. It is a sad thing to

         15  experience. The fear is generated from the top

         16  administrators at Tweed, who have set about to make

         17  the school system into a mechanical, super efficient

         18  assembly line operation and to turn the educators

         19  who work in the system into automatons. They do not

         20  listen to any objections or criticism. They pass

         21  this fear down through their regional administrators

         22  who in turn pass it down to school administrators.

         23                 Everyone along the way is easily

         24  disciplined or fired. Everyone has to toe the mark,

         25  make no waves, function according to the Tweed
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          2  script and, if ordered, cut corners. And the kids,

          3  inevitably are the losers. In this regimented system

          4  that ignores the individual; needs of students and

          5  the professionalism and expertise of talented

          6  teachers and other staff, the kids again are always

          7  the losers. And if educators dare to object, they

          8  risk their professional standing and their

          9  livelihood as you heard here.

         10                 There was another teacher along with

         11  Alice. His name was Todd Friedman. He couldn't come

         12  today, but he really wanted me to share part of his

         13  experience. As an experienced teacher who has

         14  mentored new teachers and written curriculum for the

         15  Academy of American Poets, was harassed out his

         16  school, Brooklyn Tech, because again he defied his

         17  principal, Lee McCaskill. Why? Because Mr. Friedman

         18  had assigned an outside reading for students who

         19  were not doing well the book, Continental Drift, by

         20  Russell Banks, a book that was a finalist for the

         21  Pulitzer Prize.

         22                 This was a chance for these students

         23  to bring up their grades. It just so happened that

         24  the son of the PTA president was failing that class.

         25  The PTA  president was a close friend of the

                                                            153

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  principal. The failing child complained that the

          3  Continental Drift is pornographic. This is

          4  preposterous, as anyone who has read the book knows

          5  full well. Nevertheless, Principal McCaskill put a

          6  disciplinary letter in Mr. Friedman's file that

          7  stated, You do not have the authority nor the

          8  ability to determine what is appropriate reading

          9  material.

         10                 Mr. Friedman filed a grievance and

         11  the letter was eventually removed from his file, but

         12  the intimidation factor continued to loom large. As

         13  Mr. Friedman, who could not be here today to testify

         14  has pointed out, despite what happened to him and

         15  two other teachers at Brooklyn Tech, nothing was

         16  done about the principal, up until recently, and not

         17  for the policy reasons and his tyrannical regime. A

         18  few teachers were brave enough to stick their necks

         19  out, mostly to their great disadvantage as you

         20  heard. But many teachers did not want to risk

         21  reprisals, so they kept quiet about what was

         22  happening. Their students suffered for it.

         23                 As Mr. Friedman said, when teachers

         24  are harassed, even when they just fear harassment

         25  because what they see is happening to their
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          2  colleagues, they become demoralized. Ultimately, it

          3  is the students who lose because demoralized

          4  teachers cannot, cannot give the best in their

          5  classroom. They simply cannot because all they do

          6  are protecting themselves.

          7                 Another teacher in Staten Island,

          8  this one I was personally involved in and I think

          9  some of the lawyers who were here before was

         10  wondering what else do you do. I had a teacher in

         11  Staten Island who was responsible for resource room

         12  program and the way she and the parents and other

         13  teachers planned it was the correct way. They

         14  followed the legal process. The principal didn't

         15  like it. And the principal said, I don't care what

         16  you do, you have to follow my way and I want you to

         17  break all the legal mandates around the IEP. This

         18  teacher refused to do that. She asked for my help.

         19                 We reported it to the State. As a

         20  result of reporting to the State and they filed to

         21  substantiate it, she had a letter written in her

         22  file as a U. It was only because Randi and myself

         23  were going to have a meeting with Carmen Farina and

         24  I said if that principal doesn't bring that out of

         25  her file, I'm going to bring it Carmen Farina. Once
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          2  they found that it, they never put the letter in her

          3  file. But why? Why does it take a threat for an

          4  administrator to be told what you are doing is wrong

          5  and what the teacher is doing is correct. That's why

          6  it is really critical that what you do and I know it

          7  is going to be for the long haul and I'm sure with

          8  the tweaking that will be done from this point on,

          9  that the right thing be done so staff can actually

         10  feel free to represent what is wrong in the system

         11  that is denying children their rights.

         12                 I'm going to conclude that for the

         13  past two and a half years, because my responsibility

         14  is special education. When we started hearing about

         15  the blatant violations of regulations about IEPs,

         16  Individual Education Plan, and about the mandated

         17  services for kids, we at the UFT instituted a

         18  confidential special education complaint form. In

         19  less than two years, we have registered 602 special

         20  ed violation forms collected by this process. These

         21  are the most egregious examples of the disservice to

         22  the most fragile students in the system. Here are

         23  some of the kind of things that have been happening.

         24                 One, students did not receive IEP

         25  mandated special education and related services
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          2  because principals failed to allocate or reserve

          3  sufficient funds to pay for such services and the

          4  DOE failed to have a reliable mechanism for

          5  allocating additional resources in such

          6  circumstances.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What time frame

          8  are you talking?

          9                 MS. ALVAREZ: It started when the

         10  whole shift went over from Klein and the Mayor.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That's 2001.

         12                 MS. ALVAREZ: 2003, 2002, 2003.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: 2002, right.

         14                 MS. ALVAREZ: That's correct. It

         15  didn't mean the problems didn't exist.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Right.

         17                 MS. ALVAREZ: But what happened was it

         18  mushroomed.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Right.

         20                 MS. ALVAREZ: It is totally out of

         21  control. You don't have the fabric to protect

         22  special ed which was evaluators, special ed

         23  supervisors who kept the mandate in check. That's

         24  gone. So you have anarchy now. You have principals

         25  who are not and I don't blame all of them, they
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          2  don't know.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: In essence you

          4  are saying that the infrastructure that was there

          5  before that supported the processes for IEPs and the

          6  services and all of that, these special education

          7  supervisors basically the infrastructure is now

          8  gone.

          9                 MS. ALVAREZ: Gone.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And who is up to

         11  now?

         12                 MS. ALVAREZ: Whatever e- mail comes

         13  out from central. What we have said and in their own

         14  report, which you have heard before, the hair report

         15  has said you need to reintroduce all the guidelines

         16  again and reinforce it because really people don't

         17  have it. And the answer I get from the system, even

         18  with the 602 complaints, is that it is not a

         19  systematic problem. The information is out there, we

         20  gave them a training which was not a mandated

         21  training. It was one of those power points that

         22  nobody pays attention to and it is unfortunate

         23  because this is the livelihood and it is the

         24  information to help level the playing field for

         25  young people with IEPs. You can see, they are the
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          2  ones who are failing the most. They are the ones who

          3  are not graduating. The graduation rate for students

          4  with IEPs is abysmal. They are sacrificing these

          5  students for the quick fix.

          6                 Yes, it was there before. But now

          7  because there is no checks and balances which was

          8  why this particular legislation will be helpful is

          9  that perhaps with this implemented correctly, it

         10  will provide the leverage that will make the system

         11  more accountable to what they should be doing that

         12  is correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: In fact, we

         14  implement this intro and pass it into a law, isn't

         15  it going to be DOE that is implementing the law.

         16                 MS. ALVAREZ: Well, if you are talking

         17  about special ed regulations --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm talking

         19  about this law.

         20                 MS. ALVAREZ: This law?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes, Intro 83.

         22  DOE will implement the law.

         23                 MS. ALVAREZ: Part of it from my

         24  understanding.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So it is up to
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          2  the City Council to have oversight is up for --

          3                 MS. ALVAREZ: Correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: -- All the

          5  unions and the advocates to have oversight to ensure

          6  that the implementation is being --

          7                 MS. ALVAREZ: That is correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is that correct?

          9                 MS. ALVAREZ: That is correct. Because

         10  there is no checks and balances anymore.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So that would be

         12  the checks and balances of the system?

         13                 MS. ALVAREZ: That would certainly

         14  help. Again, I'll just close by saying that I and

         15  the UFT, we are not obstructionists. We are not

         16  rabble rousers. We are much more into a

         17  collaborative way of problem solving. And as you

         18  said, with your help and your oversight, perhaps,

         19  perhaps, you will create the leverage that we can

         20  finally come to the table and really do something

         21  that is meaningful that will help these young

         22  people. Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Ms. Alvarez, I

         24  want to thank you for coming in representing UFT as

         25  the Vice President of Special Education. Let me just

                                                            160

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  ask you, these 602 you said confidential complaint

          3  forms, was that promulgated by the Department of

          4  Education or it was promulgated by UFT as a

          5  mechanism for the teachers or others who complain

          6  about illegal actions or inappropriate actions?

          7                 MS. ALVAREZ: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Who was it

          9  promulgated by?

         10                 MS. ALVAREZ: It was promulgated by us

         11  because --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: By the UFT?

         13                 MS. ALVAREZ: By the UFT because the

         14  complaints were so numerous and you heard a lot of

         15  them from the psychologists as well when the changes

         16  came over. It was criminal. So what we did was we

         17  implemented the complaint form so people can tell us

         18  where it happened. We have all that information. I

         19  could tell you the schools.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What are you

         21  doing with that?

         22                 MS. ALVAREZ: That is a good question.

         23  I'll tell you what we did with it. What we did was

         24  we compiled them together. We organized it according

         25  to the State Education mandates and under Randi's
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          2  letter, we forward all of them to the State

          3  Education Department.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How long ago was

          5  that give or take?

          6                 MS. ALVAREZ: We did that two summers

          7  ago. And what we did get as a result of it is

          8  Carmen, anytime you tell us you have a problem,

          9  we'll resolve it. But the problem is, it is

         10  filtering in 1,400 schools and the teachers are

         11  fearful. To this day, I will get a e- mail that

         12  says, don't tell them who I am.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Right.

         14                 MS. ALVAREZ: I even have supervisors

         15  who said to me, do you have a witness protection

         16  program for supervisors? I have about 57 parents who

         17  are now using my complaint forms and that's right

         18  now.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Right.

         20                 MS. ALVAREZ: Because everybody is

         21  feeling disenfranchised at this point.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So you have

         23  parents that are fearful for retaliation against --

         24                 MS. ALVAREZ: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: -- Themselves or
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          2  their children. You have teachers and other staff

          3  that are fearful of retaliation against them and the

          4  fact that there is a possibility they may lose their

          5  job in which they depend on for paying their rent or

          6  their mortgage or their car notes or their kids

          7  tuition; all of the things that we need to do to

          8  work in order to support. And then you also, as you

          9  said, you have supervisors. In essence, assistant

         10  principals, principals that want to, I guess, hide

         11  from the retaliation of the Department of Education.

         12  Is that what I'm hearing?

         13                 MS. ALVAREZ: That is correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: It is not only

         15  teachers, but it is everyone.

         16                 MS. ALVAREZ: That's why we call it

         17  the educators.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Educators. I

         19  see. This law would not only protect teachers, it

         20  would protect supervisors also?

         21                 MS. ALVAREZ: I have supervisors who

         22  call me and say, Carmen, it is the wrong thing. How

         23  do I do this? I get this. I have to protect them.

         24  Yes, they know it is wrong. They know it is wrong.

         25  They are feeling the same pressure that they will be
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          2  written up and gone.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I want to thank

          4  you for coming in and giving testimony. What

          5  happens, a transcript is made up of all the

          6  testimonies and so any of my colleagues who have

          7  missed the testimonies, they will be able to read it

          8  in transcript and obviously the transcript is public

          9  document that is available whenever it is put

         10  together. But also, DOE will be available and we

         11  will be communicating with DOE. This is the first

         12  hearing. We may hold a subsequent hearing. We will

         13  hold another hearing, at least one more hearing in

         14  order to at that time maybe vote out the bill or a

         15  revised bill and at that time, as you know DOE and

         16  their response to us was that we did not give them

         17  enough notice.

         18                 We will be sure to give them enough

         19  notice in order for them to respond to, I guess, the

         20  allegations and testimonies that were given here

         21  today to hear what they have to say and not just for

         22  me as a Chair of this Committee to read into the

         23  record their statement regarding Intro 83.

         24                 With that, I want to thank everyone

         25  for coming and giving testimony. I am now going to
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          2  call this meeting adjourned at 6:38 p.m.

          3                 MS. ALVAREZ: Thank you, Councilman.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

          5                 (Meeting adjourned at 6:38 p.m.)
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